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IN THE HIGH COURT OF DELHI AT NEW DELHI
WRIT PETITION (CIVIL) NO. 11173 OF 2019
IN THE MATTER:

WORLD PHONE INTERNET SERVICES PRIVATE
LIMITED

...PETITIONER
VERSUS
UNION OF INDIA & ORS ...RESPONDENT
REJOINDER/COUNTER AFFIDAVIT ON BEHALF OF
THE PETITIONER AS AGAINST RESPONDENT NO.
3 (FACEBOOK, INC.)
MOST RESPECTFULLY SHOWETH:

I, V Venkat Ramanan, aged about 52 years, s/o Late
Sh. N Vishwanathan, working as Sr Vice President in
the answering Petitioner Company duly authorised,
r/o L-043, 4t Floor, Gulshan Vivante, next to Felix
Hospital, Sector 137, Noida, Uttar Pradesh, presently
at New Delhi, do hereby solemnly affirm and declare
as under:-

It is submitted that the submissions made by the
Respondent No. 3, save that which are a matter of
record and that have been expressly admitted
herein, are wrong as stated and hence denied.

That the contents of para 1 & 2 of the counter
affidavit filed on behalf of the Respondent No. 3 is a
matter of fact and needs no reply.

That the contents of para 3, save that which are a
matter of record and that have been expressly

admitted herein, are wrong as stated and hence



denied. It is submitted that the contents of para 4
of the writ petition are reaffirmed and reiterated as
correct.

The contents of para 4 of the counter affidavit is

wrong and denied It is submitted herein that given

the strong public interest implicated by this

Petition, the Petitioner’s writ petition deserves to be

allowed against all Respondents - including

Respondent No. 3, yet the participation of

Respondent No. 3 is not required to obtain the relief

sought, namely the enforcement of existing laws

and regulations. The fact that the functionally
equivalent services of a telecom service provider

(“TSP”) and internet telephony service provider

(“ITSP”) are provided by Respondent No. 3 un-

hindered and without a license is well recognized

and admitted by all Respondents

That the contents of clauses of para 4 of the

counter affidavit, save that which is matter of

record is correct, is wrong and denied.

(i) It is submitted that Private entities directly
impacting the public interest such as
Respondent No. 3 are routinely subject to
writ petitions. Zee Telefilms Ltd. & Anr v.

Union of India & Ors., (2005) 4 SCC 649



(11) By providing ITSP and TSP functionally e
equivalent Internet Telephony services,
Respondent No. 3 is subject to the same
rules applicable to ITSPs and TSPs. Despite
the many pages filed in this petition, it can
largely be summed up by this truism.

(i)  On 25 July 2016, Respondent No. 2 sent a
letter to V.D. Moorthy ~ former petitioner in a
matter before this Hon’ble Court, W.P.(C)
1658/2017, regarding the subject of
“Representation against unregulated
functioning of Facebook and WhatsApp
messengers in India”, a copy of which is
annexed hereto and marked as ANNEXURE
P/13. In this letter, Respondent No. 2 states
that “to address the issue of the OTT players,
TRAI had issued a consultation paper on
“Regulatory Framework Jor Over-the-top (OTT)
services” on 27th March, 2015. The views on
the framework are under consideration by the
Authority. . . . the government is seized of the
matter and working towards appropriate
decisions and actions for addressing the
relevant issues.” It has been five years since

this letter was sent. It is submitted herein



that the Hon’ble Courts are empowered to
enforce the law as it currently exists and
cannot be slowed down by promises that
applicable laws and regulations might in the
future change.

The Telecom Disputes Settlement and
Appellate Tribunal (“TDSAT”) or the Supreme
Court has not previously ruled on any matter
subject to this Petition given the only matter
before the Hon’ble TDSAT, was the issue of
tariffs and license terms applicable to
Petitioner. Indeed, TDSAT only exercises
jurisdiction over Telecom, Broadcasting, IT
and Airport tariff matters under the TRAI
Act, 1997 (as amended), the Information
Technology Act, 2008 and the Airport
Economic Regulatory Authority of India Act,
2008. Given the TDSAT Order was not
attached by Respondent No. 3 to the counter
affidavit a copy of same is annexed hereto
and marked as ANNEXURE P/14.

At this point in time, there is no “alternative
remedy” other than the present writ petition.
As to its constitutional rights, Petitioner is

primarily asserting its fundamental right

Y



under Article 14 to “equality before the law
or the equal protection of the laws within the
territory of India” - one of the most
fundamental rights under the Constitution.
It is submitted that the contents of para 5 to 6 of
the counter affidavit require no response other than
pointing out that Respondent No. 3 provides
messenger services and supports the averments
made by the Petitioner that Respondent No. 3 has
a major direct impact on the public interest.
That the content of para 7 of the counter affidavit
is, save that which are a matter of record and that
have been expressly admitted herein, are wrong as
stated and hence denied. It is submitted that it
does not matter what label is placed on the services
in question - calling them “over the top” or OTT will
not alter the fact the Internet Telephony services
provided by Respondent No. 3 are functionally
equivalent to regulated services and should be
licensed as such.
That the content of para 8 — 10 of the counter
affidavit requires no response.
That the content of para 11 and clauses of the

counter affidavit are wrong and denied.



(i)

(iv)

It is submitted that Private entities directly
impacting the public interest such as
Respondent No. 3 are routinely subject to
writ petitions.

It is submitted herein that this matter is not
about “technical issues and policy concerns”
as suggested by Respondent No. 3. The
petition seeks to enforce regulations and
laws already in place and the Hon’ble Court
is respectfully charged with enforcing what
laws and regulations are currently enacted.

It is submitted that the averments made
herein is an attempt to mislead the Hon’ble
court and hence is vehemently denied. It is
denied that the Petitioner is “attempting to
circumvent the ruling of the TDSAT and the
Hon’ble Supreme Court, and re-litigate the
same issues before a different forum”. It is
submitted that the issues presented in this
writ petition were never before the TDSAT -
which, as already stated above, was strictly
tasked with addressing tariff issues. The
copy of the TDSAT Order, dated 30 May
2018, is marked supra, ANNEXURE P/14.

It is submitted that there is no “efficacious

2



alternative remedy” available to Petitioner.
The TRAI and DoT were already approached
over five years ago to resolve the issues
currently before the Hon’ble Court - as
shown in ANNEXURE P/ 1, but they chose to
defer addressing these matters. Indeed, the
counter affidavit filed in July 2020 on behalf
of Respondents No. 1 and No. 2 makes two
submissions in opposition to the application
— both of which seek to defer resolution of
the important issues set forth in this writ
petition. The first submission was that this
matter was transferred to the Hon’ble
Supreme Court with other petitions involving
Facebook and WhatsApp and that “it is
abundantly clear that the issue involved in
the present matter is being monitored by the
Hon'ble Supreme Court Secondly,
Respondents No. 1 and No. 2 rely on a
previously filed 2017 affidavit that claims
TRAI is “currently examining” OTT services.

It is submitted that the Respondent No. 3
claims to be subject to “robust checks and
safeguards” yet the rule cited by Respondent

No. 3 that is found under section 69(2) of the



(vii)

Information Technology Act, 2008 is merely a
rule against the interception of encrypted
communications - something Respondent
No. 3 allegedly now does not do. In other
words, the cited Rule does not require
Respondent No. 3 to do anything — standing
in sharp contrast to the vigorous checks and
balances inherent in the regulatory regime
completely ignored by Respondent No. 3.

It is denied that there is no financial loss to
the national exchequer despite the complete
failure to obtain any entry fee, payment of
license fee, or goods and service tax from
India’s largest operator of Internet Telephony
services being Respondent No. 3 herein.

A review of the TDSAT tariff proceeding
demonstrates how Petitioner was financially
harmed by the uneven application of the law.
See ANNEXURE P/14, para 7 (“Petitioner’s
challenge to respondent’s letter dated 29-6-
2012 increasing license fee to 7/8% is also
based on lack of proper consultation and
that issues related to non-level playing were
not considered.”). Indeed, such wuneven

application has allowed Respondents No. 3
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and No. 4 to completely dominate the market
— also damaging other OTT service providers
who were once viable. Last year alone,
Respondent No. 3 generated revenues of
more than $85 billion and profits of more
than $29 billion. This market dominance
has not gone unnoticed in the United States
where an Amended Complaint was filed on
19 August 2021 by its Federal Trade
Commission, a copy of same is annexed
hereto and marked as ANNEXURE P/15.
Article 19 (1)(g) and 14 of the Constitution is
being directly implicated herein, given an
entire regulatory regime has been completely
disregarded to Petitioner’s detriment and
Respondent No. 3’s benefit given Respondent
No. 3 provides functionally equivalent
services to Petitioner without being duly
licensed.
That the content of para 12 of the counter affidavit
is wrong and denied. The Respondent no 3 states
that “the Hon'’ble Supreme Court has advised that
Courts should exercise restraint in issuing any
interim orders in a writ petition” and cites State

Bank of Patiala v. Vinesh Kumar Bhasin, (2010) 4



11)

SCC 368, paras 21 and 22. Paragraph 14 of that
decision from the Hon’ble Supreme Court, however,
refers to the exercise of restraint but as to interim
ex parte writ applications: “The principles relating
to grant of interim ex parte orders by the High
Court in writ jurisdiction are well settled. Courts
should not grant interim orders in a mechanical
manner, on the assumption that the aggrieved
party can always seek vacation. Grant of ex parte
interim orders, that too mandatory orders,
routinely or merely for the asking, on ground of
sympathy or otherwise, will interfere with justice
leading to administrative chaos, rather than serving
the interests of justice.” State Bank of Patiala v.
Vinesh Kumar Bhasin, (2010) 4 SCC 368, para 14.

That the content of para 13 — 17 of the counter
affidavit is wrong and denied. It is denied that this
petition cannot be maintained against the
Respondent No. 3 as it is not subject to writ
jurisdiction under Article 226 of the Constitution.
Contrary to it the Respondent No. 3 being a purely
private company can be subject to a writ issued
pursuant to Article 226 so long as it is performing a
“public function”. “A body is performing a "public

function" when it seeks to achieve some collective

10
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benefit for the public or a section of the public and
1s accepted by the public or that section of the
public as having authority to do so. Bodies
therefore exercise public functions when they
intervene or participate in social or economic
affairs in the public interest.” Binny Ltd. v. V.
Sadasivan, (2005) 6 SCC 657, para 11. Itis further
submitted by the Respondent No. 3 in its own
counter affidavit at para 6 that “Facebook provides
products that give people the power to build
community and bring the world closer together.”
Spurred on by its global monopolistic practices — as
partially evidenced in ANNEXURE P/15, these
stated goals demonstrate Respondent No. 3
participating in the “social or economic affairs in
the public interest.” Respondent No. 3’s view also
ignores how Article 226 has been interpreted over
the years. “This article is couched in
comprehensive phraseology and it ex-facie confers a
wide power on the High Courts to reach injustice
wherever it is found. The Constitution designedly
used a wide language in describing the nature of
the power, the purpose for which and the person or
authority against whom it can be exercised. Any

attempt to equate the scope of the power of the

11
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High Court under Article 226 of the Constitution of
India with that of the English Courts to issue
prerogative writs is to introduce the unnecessary
procedural restrictions grown over the years in a
comparatively small country like England with the
unitary form of Government into a vast country like
India functioning under a federal structure. Such a
construction defeats the purpose of the article
itself. . . ." Dwarkanath vs. Income Tax Officer,
(1965) 3 SCR 536 at pages 540-41. The Hon’ble
Supreme Court has recognized that “it can very well
be said that a writ of mandamus can be issued
against a private body which is not a State within
the meaning of Article 12 of the Constitution and
such body is amenable to the jurisdiction under
Article 226 of the Constitution and the High Court
under Article 226 of the Constitution can exercise
judicial review of the action challenged by a party.
But there must be a public law element and it
cannot be exercised to enforce purely private
contracts entered into between the parties.”
Binny Ltd. v. V. Sadasivan, (2005) 6 SCC 657, para
32. Unlike in the sole case cited by Respondent No.
3 in support of its argument in para 14 - 15 -

Federal Bank Limited vs. Sagar Thomas & Ors.

12
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(2003) 10 SCC 733, there is no private contract
entered into between Respondent No. 3 and
Petitioner. Respondent in the cited case was
working as a Branch Manager of the appellant
Bank. He was suspended and there was a
disciplinary enquiry wherein he was found guilty
and dismissed from service. The respondent
challenged his contractual dismissal by filing a writ
petition. While there is no contract between the
parties that would preclude the issuance of a writ,
the necessary “public law element” is readily
apparent 1n this petition given Petitioner is
expressly seeking to enforce actual public laws and
regulations. Whether its pursued solely against
Respondents No. 1 and No. 2 or also with
Respondent No. 3, this writ petition is viable under
longstanding law.

That the content of para 18 - 22 of the counter
affidavit is wrong and denied. It is denied that the
DoT and TRAI are “already examining the issues
raised by the Petition” and “this process 1is
ongoing”. The Respondent No. 3 is misleading this
Hon’ble Court wherein the reality is that the
regulators have already spoken and they will not do

anything to enforce the law as currently written.

13

13
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TRAI apparently recognizes the unfairness to TSPs
as regards the selective enforcement of regulations
but simply “recommends that Market forces may be
allowed to respond to the situation without
prescribing any regulatory intervention. However,
developments shall be monitored and intervention
as felt necessary shall be done at appropriate time.”
Recommendations on Regulatory Framework for
Over-The-Top (OTT) Communication Services, 14
September 2020, at 2.4(i)), ANNEXURE R3/1.
Again, unlike in the cases cited by Respondent No.
3 it is denied that the Petitioner is looking to have
the Hon’ble Court create a new regulatory regime.
The Petitioner through this writ Petition is only
praying before this Hon’ble court to enforce the
Law/Regulations currently in place.

That the content of para 23 — 27 of the counter
affidavit is wrong and denied. It is denied that the
prior TDSAT proceeding resolved issues pertinent to
this petition but that the Hon’ble Tribunal did not
have the authority to issue the writ sought by way
of this petition. Indeed, the Hon’ble High Court
itself can overrule the judgment of TDSAT and its
exercise of the powers conferred by section 16(1) of

the Telecom Regulatory Authority of India Act,

14



14)

1997, as amended. Respondent would have this
Hon’ble Court ignore its own jurisdiction and
replace it with the jurisdictional limit underpinning
the cited TDSAT decision or even inchoate rulings
from TRAI and DoT - which is ironic given as
regarding regulatory matters, TRAI and DoT do not
even always speak the same language. See
Clarification related to Recommendations on
“Enhancement of Scope of Infrastructure Providers
Category - I (IP-I) Registration” issued on 13th
March 20207, 11 January 2021, para 21, a copy of
which is annexed hereto and marked as
ANNEXURE P/16 (TRAI argues in its 11 January
2021 letter to DoT that “the contention of the
DoT, that the Hon'ble Court in its judgment had
held that the Infrastructure Providers cannot be
treated as licensees under Section 4 of the Indian
Telegraph Act, 1885, is factually incorrect.”).

That the content of para 28 — 33 of the counter
affidavit is wrong and denied. It is wrong and
denied that TRAI and DoT should now be
approached by Petitioner wherein it was already
approached five years ago (ANNEXURE P/13) and
there is clearly no “alternative efficacious remedy

available to the petitioner.” Indeed, as set forth at

15
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2.4(i), ANNEXURE R3/1, TRAI has already
recommended “that Market forces may be allowed
to respond to the situation without prescribing any
regulatory intervention.” Respondent No. 3 also
relies on what it calls a “proliferation of numerous
well-known mobile applications that provide
internet-based voice calling services in India (such
as Skype, Viber, Google Duo, VoIP, Line, etc.).”
These providers, however, have literally no market
share compared to Respondents No. 3 and 4.
Skype was once the dominant provider in India but
after its corporate parent Microsoft was sued in
2014 by Petitioner in the United States, Skype
removed the ability to call within India from Skype
to mobiles and landlines. It is now respectfully
time for Respondent No. 3 — the undisputed current
dominant provider, to cease its unlawful conduct
by issuance of writ by this Hon’ble Court.

That the content of para 34 - 44 of the counter
affidavit is wrong and denied. According to
Respondent No. 3 (para 42): “It would be an
anomaly to consider an OTT service provider at par
with Petitioner under the UL Agreement, when
neither TRAI nor the Government are treating them

to be so. In any event, the relevant regulatory

16
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17)

authorities are seized of the issue and the
consultation process is ongoing.”. The “relevant
regulatory authorities” have been made aware of
these exact issues for over five years. It is humbly
prayed by Petitioner by way of this writ Petition
that the Hon’ble Court must intercede to ensure
equal protection under the already existing law.

That the content of para 45 - 48 of the counter
affidavit is wrong and denied. It is denied that the
Respondent No. 3 should not be regulated given
that “Facebook does not operate its own
telecommunications networks or infrastructure in
order to provide the Facebook Services to users in

b

India.” Respondent No. 3, however, previously had
a very large presence in India but has since pulled
all its employees from the country. In fact, any
mention of Respondent No. 3's presence in India
has been removed from its website - as with all its
many blog posts over the years regarding its
physical presence in India, and now can only be
found online using Internet Archive. See New
Offices to

Support You Around the World (Publicly available

at

https://web.archive.org/web/20100319220222 /ht

17



tp:/ /blog.facebook.com/blog. php?post=360924937
130) ("[T]oday in India we unveiled our intentions to
open an office in Hyderabad.”). Despite currently
having offices in 80 cities around the world and
previously having large offices in both Hyderabad
and Gurugram, Respondent No. 3 now has no office
in India - its largest country market in the world.
Respondent No. 3's decision to abandon its Indian
presence speaks volumes regarding its strategy to
avoid certain regulators and its intentions on the
"digital colonialism" of the country. Interestingly,
Respondent No. 3 is requiring that “advertisers who
have ad accounts with Facebook India as the
legal entity” will use a “prepaid payment method”
after 1 September 2021 due to alleged eMandate
rules emanating from the Bank of India. See “Ad
Billing Changes Due to New eMandate Regulation”
(Publicly available at

https:/ /www.facebook.com /business/help/353616

0639844756). It is submitted that the Respondent

No . 3 complies with an Indian “regulation” that
purportedly requires customers switch to a
“prepaid payment method” — a change obviously in
its best interest, as well as an interception rule it

publicly has stated in cannot comply with given the

18
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use of end-to-end encryption yet completely ignores
all other Indian regulations that are not necessarily
in its best interest — including those the subject of
this Petition. It is submitted that if left unchecked,
the Respondent No. 3 will only get more powerful
and dangerous to the public interest. For example,
in 2020 it became the largest minority investor in
India’s largest telecom operator. See Facebook
Invests $5.7 Billion in India’s Jio Platforms
(Publicly available at

https://about.fb.com/news/2020/04 /facebook-

invests-in-jio/) (“Today we are announcing a $5.7

billion, or INR 43,574 crore, investment in Jio
Platforms Limited, part of Reliance Industries
Limited, making Facebook its largest minority
shareholder. . .India is a special country for us. Over
the years, Facebook has invested in India to connect
people and help businesses launch and grow.
WhatsApp is so ingrained in Indian life that it has
become a commonly used verb across many Indian
languages and dialects. Facebook brings together
friends and families, but moreover, it’s one of the
country’s biggest enablers of growth for small

businesses. And Instagram has grown dramatically

19

19



18)

19)

RO

in India in recent years as the place where people
Jollow their interests and passions.”).

That the content of para 49 - 57 of the counter
affidavit is wrong and denied and repetitive with the
abovementioned paras and have been already
replied herein.

That the content of para 58 - 65 of the counter
affidavit is wrong and denied. It is denied that
because | the Petitioner “provides
telecommunications services over its own network,
Petitioner, and not Facebook, is governed by the
Telegraph Act and the UL Agreement.” It is
specifically denied that since the Respondent No. 3
relies on networks built by other companies, it can
freely  provide  telecommunications services
governed by the Telegraph Act and the UL
Agreement. At its essence, this petition respectfully
seeks indulgence of the Hon’ble Court as to
whether Respondent No. 3 need not comply with
the Telegraph Act and the UL Agreement despite
providing “telecommunications services” simply
because it uses for free the networks built by

others.

20
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20) In the light of the aforementioned facts and
circumstances, it is therefore respectfully prayed to
this Hon’ble Court to kindly allow the prayer of
relief sought by the Petitioner, in the interest of
Justice, including enjoining Respondent No. 3 from
providing Internet Telephony/VoIP services until
such time as it is in compliance with the applicable
requirements for providing such services in the

Union of India.

DEPONENT
VERIFICATION:
I, the above named Deponent do hereby solemnly
affirm on oath that the contents of the present
affidavit are true and correct and nothing material has
been concealed therefrom.

Verified on this 24t day of August, 2021 at New Delhi

DEPONENT

21



No, 19-50/2016/5-1T
Governmient of India / S o
Ministry of Communication &IT ‘ N
Department of Telecommunications A Mo @(Cmé; o F’ } g 3

(Gecurity Wing)

To, o | | | Dated:25% July; 2016

Shri V. I, Moorthy

 Subject: Reprewn{a’aon agam@f unregulated funcHoning of Facebook and
© WhatsApp messengers in Ind.m ) :

Kindly refer to your Jetter dated 3%t March 2016 on above mentioned subject.
While thanking you for the concerns raised by you, you may understand that efforts
-~ are underway to address the multi-dimensional complexities of the issues, In this
regard it is brou ght to your notice that, to address the issue of the OTT players; TRAI
had fssued a consultation paper on “Regulatory Framework for Over-the-top (OTT)
services” on 27th March, 2015. The views on the framework are under consideration
by the Authority. Further, a pre-consultation paper on the net neutrality has also :
- been issued by TRAT on 30th May 2016 and responses had been sought Hll 5% July
- 2016. In addition, a Ccmulfaﬁon Paper on Internet Telephony (VoIP) was issued on k
22/06/ 2016. This consultation s curtently open and to be closed on O:>/ 09/2016.
You may also consider par txczpatmgr in the TRAT consultation,

Bs s evzdeni: the government is ‘;ezzed of the matter and working towards
approprzais decisions and actions for addressing the relevant issues, R
/Qf""/f?ﬁq,{ L

ole- (PKSingh)
- Director(S-11)
Tele No. 23372630

: ;hﬁps:/{fhaif;‘goog?e.com/mai!/u/(}/#inbox)156df2541b5f6939?projector=1 .
AL | | "ol -
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TELECOM DISPUTES SETTLEMENT & APPELLATE TRIBUNAL
NEW DELHI

| #
- Dated % May, 2018

Telecom Petition No. 418 of 2014

M/s World Phone Internet Services Pvt. Ltd., New Delhi . .....Petitioner
Vs.

Union of India, NewDelt Respondent

BEFORE:

HON’BLE MR. JUSTICE SHIVA KIRTI SINGH, CHAIRPERSON
HON’BLE MR. A.K. BHARGAVA, MEMBER

For Petitioner : Mr. Harish V. Shankar, Advocate
Ms.Nisha Mohan Das,Advocate
Ms.Rati Varma,Advocate

For Respondent : Mr. Apoorv Kurup, Advocate

Mr.Avinash Rathi,Advocate
Ms.Nidhi Mittal, Advocate

ORDER

1. By A. K. Bhargava, Member: Petitioner holds a license for
providing internet service (including internet telephiony) since 8-
4-2002. Initially under the license agreement no license fee was
payable (License fee was waived) till 31.10.2003, subsequent to
which the Petitioner was liable to pay a nominal license fee of

Rs. 1 (Rupees One Only) per annum. At the time of the




> <Y

Agreement, the Petitioner was required to provide a Bank
Guarantee for a sum of Rs. Two Crores Only, which was later
reduced to Rs. One Crore. At the time when the License fee at
the rate of 6% was imposed by the Respondent, the Petitioner
was asked to furnish a Bank Guarantee for Rs. 20 Lakhs which

was, under protest, furnished by the Petitioner.

The Respondent, vide notification dated 3.3.2006 amended the
conditions of the License by which a license fee of 6% was
imposed as a percentage of the AGR. The Petitioner made
payments at separate times under protest. By notification dated
29.6.2012, the Respondent further intimated about increasing
the license fee to first 7% of the AGR for the period 1.7.2012 to

31.03.2013 and thereupon from 2013-14 to 8% of the AGR.

The Respondent has made demands of Rs 42,44,123 for FY
2005-06 and 2006-07 and Rs. 86,70,804 for FY 2007-08 against
which the petitioner made various representations and the
respondent issued various reminders. Subsequently, vide letter
dated 18-9-2014 the respondent encashed the FBG amounting

to Rs 20,00,000. Aggrieved by the actions of the respondent, the
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petitioner has filed this petition on 23-9-2014 with a number ¢f

prayers as listed below

a) Quash the letters dated 05.08.2014 & 04.09.2014.

b) Restrain the Respondent from encashing the Bank

Guarantee being BG No. 60051BGI15070135 dated 01.10.2007.

¢) Restrain the Respondent from cancelling the License being

Agreement No. 820-511/2002-LR, dt. 8.4.2002.

d) Restrain the Respondent from taking any action including
encashment of Bank Guarantee and Cancellation of the License
being Agreement No. 820-511/2002-LR, dt. 8.4.2002 for non-

payment of license fees.

g) Set aside and quash the notification dt. 29.6.2012 whereby

tne Respondent has unilaterally imposed a license fee of 7%

¥

from 1.7.2012-31.03.2012 and from 2013-14, 8% of AGR.

-

fy Pass an ad-interim ex-parte order staying the operation of the

impugned notification dt. 29.6.2012;

T

®wy
0

n ad-interim ex-parte order staying the operation of

(N

o el
o ¥

h

1 3.8.2014 whereby the Petitioner has been asked io
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submit interest, penalty and interest on penalty on alleged
delayed payment for the period from FY 2005-2006 to 2007-08
calculated on a self-assessment basis upto date of payment as
well as pay quarterly License Fee for the period FY 2008-09 to
FY 2013-14 with interest, penalty and interest on penalty failing
which the Petitioner has been threatened with termination of
license and encashment of Bank Guarantee provided by it to the

Respondent.

Subsequently, on 13-5-2015, following issues were framed after

hearing both the parties

a) Whether Over the Top (OTT) Services offered by Google,
Viber, Yahoo and Tango are not services that are similar or in
fact exactly in the nature of the services being provided by the
Petitioner?

b) Whether the said OTT Services provided have been
subjected o any fee or is any revenue being generated from

them that enures to the benefit of the Licensor (Respondent)?
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c) Whether the provisions of the OTT services have caused any
losses to the Petitioner and/or the Respondent herein?

d) Whether in view of the non-regulation of such OTT services.
the Respondent is entitled to claim License Fee from the
Petitioner?

e) Whether the Petitioner is liable to pay interest, penalty and
interest on penalty on alleged delayed payment for period FY
2005-2006 to 2007-20087?

f) Whether the Petitioner is liable to pay quarterly license fee for
period 2007-09 to 2013-14 with interest, penalty and interest on
penalty”?

g) Whether the impugned letters dated 05.08.2014 and
04.08.2014 are lawful and valid?

h} Whether the present petition is infructuous or not?

= R e SN Emr v bibl mpeme %2 Lo ot i iry? H
> Leamed counsel for petitioner Mr. Harish Vaidyanathan's case is

thzt no license fes s leviable at zll on the petitioner by the
rezooncent in suppon of 1S case, his first argument is that OTT

or similar services do not pay any

re mot bound by many other constraints that an
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ISP-IT licensee is saddled with. Hence imposition of license fee
vitiates the level playing field and is discriminatory. His second
argument is that imposition of license fee at 6% of AGR and later
at 7/8% is bad in law on various counts but mainly on account of
there being no proper consultation as per the provisions of law.

We examine both these propositions in detail.

The petitioner provides internet services as well as Internet
Telephony services. Internet Telephony is a service to process
and carry voice signals offered through public Internet by the use
of Personal Computers (PC) or IP based Customer Premises

Equipment (CPE) connecting the following:-
(a)PC to PC; Within or outside india
(b)PC in India to Telephone outside India

(c)P based H. 323/ SiP Terminals
connected directly to ISP nodes o

similar terminals; within or outside India."
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Internet Telephony is a different service in its scope. naturs 22
Kind from real time voice services as offered by other licenssg
operators like BSO, CMSO, NLDQO, ILDO. Accordingly. a ceriain
regulatory framework has evolved over a period of time. In
paraiiel, with the advent of technology and innovations, number

of OTT services have emerged that occupy important place in

digital space. The term over-the-top (OTT) refers to applications

w

nd services which are accessible over the internet and ride on
operators’ networks offering internet access services e.g. social
natworks, search engines, amateur video aggregation sites etc.

T

O7T7T service providers neither operate a network nor lease

work capacity for service provision. They simply use a

d network and they themselves are not regulated. Scope

77 services is pretty wide but some of them do provide

<)

et oare similar to the telecommunication services

@

ow the licensed telecom service providers, only

ceing that such OTT services are provided to the

of ficensad TSP. Impact of these OTT services on

erators has been both ways; on one hand usage
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of network has gone up, on the other hand many services
provided by licensed operator have been substituted by OTT
players. OTT players also deny that-any issue of discrimination is
involved that requires hard regulations. They rely on innovation
and consumer interest as reasons to justify that they be not
subjected to hard regulations. Apparently, there are complex and
muitiple policy issues involved in determining whether to
regulate, what to regulate and how to regulate such OTT
services. The policy formulation and development of appropriate
regulatory framework to support the policy is the privilege and
domain of the state or the licensor and the regulator. Litigation
cannot be a tool or substitute for such an exercise. We are given
to understand that both licensor and regulator have undertaken
such an exercise in respect of OTT services and the petitioner if
so advised may espouse its viewpoint there. What petitioner
wants is to negate one regulatory framework (to which he is a
party by agreement) because anocther regulatory framework or
policy is not in place. This will actually amount to re-writing
existing regulation and or pre-empting the exercise of developing

new regulatory framework. We are not persuaded to tread such




o

a path. Accordingly issues (i) to (iv) are disposed of with 2

comment that they require no intervention from this tribunai.

Leamed counsel for the petitioner has also argued against

‘mposition of any license fee, beginning with the notification
1ed 3-3-2006 vide which respondent amended the license
conciion regarding license fee to be imposad at 6% instead of
z=r0. His main challenge is on the ground that (a) the Agreement

“Review” of the condition and “impose license fee”.

an Agreement clearly entails a process of

D) TRAI recommendations came only in 2007 and

of the TRAI cannot be sought ex post facto.

iving effect to the amendment dated 3-3-2008

from 1-1-2006 is not just and correct. In all

womitied that this notification dated 3-3-2008 was

FAL in petition 119 of 2006 and was decided by

2-8-2007. Issue of consuitation has been dealt

and the petitioner’s challenge was rejected.

o
0

e
o

Zained finality and even if there are nsw
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points to be agitated, the status cannot be changed. In view of
the facts, we find that no useful purpose will be served to discuss
the issue of imposition of license fee at the rate of 6% of AGR

any further.

7. Petitioner's challenge to respondent's letter dated 29-6-2012
increasing license fee to 7/8% is also based on lack of proper
consultation and that issues related to non-level playing were not
considered. This order was challenged by petition no. 429 of
2012 and this Tribunal in judgment dated 12-1-2012 held that
para 2 of the impugned order is not sustainable. Learned
counsel for the petitioner contended that based on discussions in
the said judgment the whole impugned order is not sustainable.
Stand of the learned counsel for respondent has been that as
per the AUSPI judgment (2011) 10 SCC 543, once a licensee
has accepted the terms and conditions of a license, he cannot
question the validity cf the terms and conditions of the license
before the Court. Be that as it may, we note the para 3 of the

order dated 29-6-2012 which states that “Necessary

amendment(s) to the License Agreemeni(s) to above effect
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will be issued in due course of time”. No amendment o this
efiect has been shown to have been issued to the petiticnz.
mence, the rate of 7/8% is not applicable in respect of the licenss
fee payable by the petitioner in absence of any amendment in
slevant terms and condition of the license. We however haste

1o 2dd that the petitioner is liable to continue to pay license fee at

= in accerdance with terms and condition of the license and the

it dated 3-3-2006 to the license.

r i

i of the matter relates to the interest, penalty and

© on openglly Petitioner's submission that no interest or

siecied anyway in view of the discussions

=nt has raised a demand of Rs. 42,44 123

. 2008-07 and Rs. 6,70,804 for FY 2007-08.

t of the late payment made by the

‘i

= counse! for the petitioner argued that the

ot e

i

=en as “penal’” and should be dealt

4

0

r penalty in the Telegraph Act, Section

nondent contends that in view
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of the TDSAT judgment dated 30-8-2007 having attained finality.

whole of the amendment dated 3-3-2006 has to be implemented

&)

as such. He further submits that the interest and penalty ha:
been imposed in accordance with the amended clause 13.5.7
and 13.4 (A) (e) and (h) of the notification dated 3-3-20086. Since
express provision has peen made in the amended license terms
and conditions for charging interest for delayed payment, penaity
and interest on penalty and the demands have been raised in
terms of these provisions, we are unable to hold them illegal and

invalid as prayed for by the petitioner.

In view of the above, we summarize our directions in respect of
the issues framed (as in para 3) as follows
(a) Issues (i) to (iv) are disposed of with the comment that they

require no intervention from this tribunal.

(b) Issues {v) to (viil) are decided in favor of the Respondent with
the observation that the rate of 7/8% is not applicable in

respect of the license fee payable by the petitioner in
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absence of any amendment in relevant terms and condition

of the license.

10. This Petition along with all miscellaneous applications is

disposed of in above terms. No cost to the either side.

v

{S.K. Singh, J)
Chairperson

--------------------

Member
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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA

FEDERAL TRADE COMMISSION
600 Pennsylvania Avenue, N.W.
Washington, DC 20580

Plaintiff,
Case No.: 1:20-¢v-03590-JEB
V.
FACEBOOK, INC. PUBLIC REDACTED VERSION OF
1601 Willow Road DOCUMENT FILED UNDER SEAL

Menlo Park, CA 94025

Defendant.

FIRST AMENDED COMPLAINT FOR INJUNCTIVE AND OTHER EQUITABLE
RELIEF

Plaintiff, the Federal Trade Commission (“FTC”), by its designated attorneys, petitions this
Court pursuant to Section 13(b) of the Federal Trade Commission Act (“FTC Act”), 15 U.S.C.
§ 53(b), for a permanent injunction and other equitable relief against Defendant Facebook, Inc.
(“Facebook™), to remedy and prevent its anticompetitive conduct and unfair methods of
competition in or affecting commerce in violation of Section 5(a) of the FTC Act, 15 U.S.C.
§ 45(a).
I. NATURE OF THE CASE

1. Facebook is the world’s dominant online social network, with a purported three
billion-plus regular users. Facebook has maintained its monopoly position in significant part by
parsuing Chief Executive Officer (“CEO”) Mark Zuckerberg’s strategy, expressed in 2008: “if is
better to buy than compete.” True to that maxim, Facebook has systematically tracked potential

rivals and acquired companies that it viewed as serious competitive threats. Facebook
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supplemented this anticompetitive acquisition strategy with anticompetitive conditional dealing
policies, designed to erect or maintain entry barriers and to neutralize perceived competitive
threats.

2. Facebook holds monopoly power in the market for personal social networking
services (“personal social networking” or “personal social networking services”) in the United
States, primarily due to its control of two of the largest and most profitable social networks in the
world, Facebook and Instagram. The Facebook social network is known internally at Facebook as

|| monthly users in the United States. Instagram

“Facebook Blue” and has more than &8 &

attracts more than | monthly users. No other personal social networking provider in the
United States remotely approaches Facebook’s scale. Snapchat is the next-largest provider of
personal social networking services, but its user base pales in comparison: Snapchat has tens of
millions fewer monthly users than either Facebook Blue or Instagram.

3. Facebook’s dominant position provides it with staggering profits. Facebook
monetizes its personal social networking monopoly principally by selling surveillance-based
advertising. Facebook collects data on users both on its platform and across the internet and
exploits this deep trove of data about users’ activities, interests, and affiliations to sell behavioral
advertisements. Last year alone, Facebook generated revenues of more than $85 billion and profits
of more than $29 billion.

4. As Facebook has long recognized, its personal social networking monopoly is
protected by high barriers to entry, including strong network effects. In particular, because a
personal social network is more valuable to a user when more of that user’s friends and family are

already members, a new entrant faces significant difficulties in attracting a sufficient user base to

compete with Facebook. Facebook’s internal documents confirm that it is very difficult to win
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users with a social networking product built around a particular social “mechanic” (i.e., a particular
way to connect and interact with others, such as photo-sharing) that is already being used by an
incumbent with dominant scale. Oftentimes, even an entrant with a superior product cannot
succeed against the overwhelming network effects enjoyed by an incumbent personal social
network.

5. Strong network effects can insulate a dominant personal social networking provider
from competitive threats until a disruptive or innovative technology emerges to open up new ways
for users to connect. In a competitive environment, Facebook’s success would depend on its ability
to anticipate and adapt to periods of technological transition by developing innovative tools that
create value for the company’s social network. But in navigating its own transition from small
startup to business behemoth, Facebook’s leadership came to the realization—after several
expensive failures—that it lacked the business talent required to maintain its dominance amid
changing conditions. Unable to maintain its monopoly by fairly competing, the company’s
executives addressed the existential threat by buying up new innovators that were succeeding
where Facebook failed. The company supplemented this anticompetitive spending spree with an
opened-first-closed-later scheme that helped cement its monopoly by further thwarting nascent
rivals.

6. A critical transition period in the history of the internet, and in Facebook’s history,
was the emergence of smartphones and the mobile internet in the 2010s. The emergence of these
technologies fundamentally disrupted the digital economy by allowing people to connect on the
go. As users increasingly shifted online activities to the mobile internet, opportunities arose for
innovative, upstart companies to challenge Facebook and other giants that had grown dominant in

the desktop age. Venture capital and other funding flowed to startups like Instagram, which
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allowed users to connect through photo sharing, and WhatsApp, which provided messaging
services. These upstarts became popular quickly.

7. Facebook recognized that the transition to mobile posed an existential challenge—
and that Facebook had a brief window of time to stymie emerging mobile threats. Facebook’s

CEO, Mr. Zuckerberg, described the period as a

|| Failing to compete on business talent, Facebook developed a plan to maintain its
dominant position by acquiring companies that could emerge as or aid competitive threats. By
buying up these companies, Facebook eliminated the possibility that rivals might harness the
power of the mobile internet to challenge Facebook’s dominance.

8. Facebook buttressed its acquisition strategy by implementing and enforcing a series
of anticompetitive conditional dealing policies that pulled the rug out from under firms perceived
as competitive threats. Facebook included these policies in agreements with third-party developers
of software apps that ran on or connected to Facebook’s platform. Beginning in 2007, Facebook
actively invited app developers onto its platform, granting them open access to critical application
programming interfaces (“APIs”) and tools needed to interconnect with Facebook. This open
access policy drove developer and user engagement with Facebook, which in turn helped to fuel
Facebook’s massive advertising profits. But as developers expanded popular offerings, Facebook
came to view them as a threat, recognizing that some could aid emerging rivals or even challenge
Facebook directly. In response, Facebook retooled its API policies into an anticompetitive
weapon: developers could only access Facebook’s platform if they agreed (i) not to compete with
Facebook’s core services and (ii) not to facilitate the growth of potential rivals to Facebook. App

developers or websites that stayed loyal to Facebook by adhering to these conditions were given
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access to valuable Facebook platform interconnections. In contrast, app developers that worked
with or themselves emerged as potential competitive threats to Facebook lost access to those
interconnections, forcing some out of business. But for the restrictions imposed by Facebook’s
anticompetitive conditional dealing policies, developers could promote competitive threats to
Facebook or become threats themselves. By preventing them from doing so, Facebook reduced
the opportunities available to nascent threats. In other words, Facebook beat competitors not by
improving its own product, but instead by imposing anticompetitive restrictions on developers.
This conduct is no less anticompetitive than if Facebook had paid off these nascent competitive
threats to cease competing.

9. Through these actions, Facebook implemented an anticompetitive scheme that
prevented differentiated and innovative firms from gaining scale, thus enabling Facebook to
maintain its dominance. Facebook’s course of conduct has eliminated nascent rivals and
extinguished the possibility that such rivals’ independent existence might allow other internet
platforms to overcome the substantial barriers to entry that protect Facebook’s monopoly position.
In doing so, Facebook deprives personal social networking users in the United States of the benefits
of competition, including increased choice, quality, and innovation.

10. By interfering with the emergence and growth of personal social networking rivals,
Facebook also suppresses meaningful competition for the sale of advertising. Many personal
social networking providers monetize their platforms through the sale of advertising; thus, more
competition in personal social networking is also likely to mean more competition in the provision
of advertising. By monopolizing personal social networking, Facebook thereby also deprives
advertisers of the benefits of competition, such as lower advertising prices and increased choice,

quality, and innovation related to advertising.
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I1. Facebook’s unlawful course of conduct to maintain its monopoly continues today
and must be enjoined. Facebook continues to hold and operate the assets it acquired unlawfully
and continues to keep them positioned to provide a protective “moat” around its personal social
networking monopoly. Moreover, Facebook continues to monitor competitive threats and will
seek to acquire or kneecap them unless enjoined.

II. JURISDICTION AND VENUE

A. Jurisdiction
12. This Court has subject matter jurisdiction over this action pursuant to Sections 5(a)
and 13(b) of the FTC Act, 15 U.S.C. §§ 45(a) and 53(b), and 28 U.S.C. §§ 1331, 1137(a), and
1345. This is a civil action arising under Acts of Congress protecting trade and commerce against
restraints and monopolies, and is brought by an agency of the United States authorized by an Act
of Congress to bring this action.
13. This Court has personal jurisdiction over Facebook because Facebook has the
requisite constitutional contacts with the United States of America pursuant to 15 U.S.C. § 53(b).
14. Facebook’s general business practices, and the unfair methods of competition
alleged herein, are “in or affecting commerce” within the meaning of Section 5 of the FTC Act,
15 U.S.C. § 45.
15. Facebook is, and at all relevant times has been, a corporation, as the term
“corporation” is defined in Section 4 of the FTC Act, 15 U.S.C. § 44.
B. Venue
16. Venue in this district is proper under 15 U.S.C. § 22, 28 U.S.C. § 1391(b)(1), and

15 U.S.C. § 53(b). Facebook resides, transacts business, and is found in this district.



4)

Case 1:20-cv-03590-JEB Document 75-1 Filed 08/19/21 Page 7 of 80

III. THE PARTIES

17.  Plaintiff FTC is an administrative agency of the United States government,
established, organized, and existing pursuant to the FTC Act, 15 U.S.C. §§ 41 ef seq., with its
principal offices in the District of Columbia. The Commission is vested with authority and
responsibility for enforcing, among other things, Section 5 of the FTC Act, 15 U.S.C. § 45, and is
authorized under Section 13(b) of the FTC Act, 15 U.S.C. § 53(b), to initiate court proceedings to
enjoin violations of any law the FTC enforces and to seek equitable remedies.

18. The FTC is authorized to bring this case in federal court because it has reason to
believe that Defendant Facebook is violating or is about to violate a provision of law enforced by
the FTC, and this is a proper case for permanent injunctive relief within the meaning of Section
13(b) of the FTC Act, 15 U.S.C. § 53(b).

19.  Defendant Facebook is a publicly traded, for-profit company, incorporated in
Delaware and with its principal place of business at 1601 Willow Road, Menlo Park, CA 94025.
Facebook’s principal businesses are in technologies that facilitate digital interactions and
communications, including Facebook Blue, which provides personal social networking;
Instagram, which provides personal social networking; Facebook Messenger, which provides
mobile messaging services; and WhatsApp, which provides mobile messaging services.

IV. INDUSTRY BACKGROUND

A. The Rise of Personal Social Networking and Facebook’s Beginnings

20.  In the early 2000s, the widespread use of personal computers and internet
connectivity enabled a new way of connecting and communicating with other people: online social
networking with friends and family. In contrast to the limited functionality of email and text

messaging, personal social networking gained popularity by providing a distinct way for people to
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maintain personal connections. Personal social networking enables people to stay up to date and
share personal content with friends and family. It is now an integral part of the daily lives of
millions of Americans.

21.  Through an account on a personal social network, people can post content about
their own lives and interests, and view content that personal connections have posted. Because
many people use personal social networking to engage with personal connections, the presence of
a critical mass of people on a particular personal social network both attracts new users and keeps
existing users on the network. In this sense, social networks share features of telephone systems,
operating systems, and other services characterized by strong network effects: the value of the

service to individual consumers increases with the number of other consumers that use the service.

Internal Facebook investor call talking points expressed this phenomenon crisply: g2

22. Friendster, launched in March 2002, was one of the first personal social networks
to gain significant popularity, and Myspace followed the next year.

23. Subsequently, in February 2004, Mr. Zuckerberg and his college classmates
launched Facebook (then styled “TheFacebook™). They first launched the product on their school
campus, and then quickly expanded to other college campuses. Following rapid uptake in
university settings, Facebook became widely available to members of the general public in 2006.
Facebook’s rapid initial growth led to substantial private investment in the company, which in turn

fueled more growth.

B. Facebook Launched Facebook Platform, and Provided Access to Critical Interfaces,
to Induce App Developers to Interoperate with Facebook Blue

24.  The early, rapid growth of Facebook’s user base was of critical importance to the

company. Facebook needed to add users rapidly not only to sell itself to investors, but also to
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achieve a critical mass of users that could allow it to establish and benefit from network effects:
As more users actively and regularly engaged with Facebook’s offerings, users would be more
likely to stay with Facebook and attract yet more users—and leave potential competitors with little
room to maneuver. Facebook therefore sought to quickly expand its offerings to users.

25.  In furtherance of this goal, Facebook in 2007 launched “Facebook Platform.” The
Platform initiative leveraged Facebook’s control over its rapidly expanding user base to encourage
software developers to build an entire ecosystem of apps and tools—ranging from games and page
design tools to video-sharing tools and e-marketing apps—that interoperate with Facebook Blue.
Facebook aimed to turn Facebook Blue into a dominant platform for apps: If Facebook could
induce developers to use Facebook Blue to promote and distribute innovative apps that appealed
to users, Facebook would benefit from increased user engagement, yielding greater and more
granular data about its users and their online activities, and cementing network effects to insulate
itself from competition.

26. When it launched Platform, Facebook explicitly “welcome[d] developers with
competing applications” to build on Platform, representing that it had “designed Facebook
Platform so that applications from third—party developers are on a level playing field with
applications built by Facebook.”

27.  Facebook’s Platform initiative allowed it to conserve its own resources and
leverage the creativity of third parties to ensure that engagement continued on Facebook. Without
Platform, Facebook itself would be required to build apps that increased the value of its network—
meaning that Facebook would have to try to predict what apps users wanted; design, code, and
scale those apps across its user base and network; and bear the risk and resource drain of guessing

wrong and making mistakes.
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28.  Platform allowed Facebook to avoid these risks and costs—and to reap the benefits
derived from the efforts of third-party app developers. Facebook would not need to spend
significant resources to develop new apps or test new business models—third parties would do
that instead. Facebook could merely wait for an app built for Platform to gain widespread
adoption, then either build a competing app or reap the benefits of that popular app’s user
engagement, including valuable new social data for Facebook. The potential to extract profits
from the work of these developers—including from the apps these developers built and the users
they attracted—Iled Facebook to actively seek out and invite developers to build apps on Platform.

29.  Facebook rolled out Facebook Platform as a program that would provide all app

developers with the freedom to design apps. When Facebook introduced Facebook Platform,
Mr. Zuckerberg stated, “[u]ntil now, social networks have been closed platforms. Today, we’re
going to end that. With this evolution of Facebook Platform, any developer worldwide can
build full social applications on top of the social graph, inside of Facebook.”

30.  Facebook marketed Facebook Platform as a way to empower all app developers

because it recognized that doing so would be critical to its business. In a 2007 press release,
Mr. Zuckerberg stated, “[Facebook Platform] is good for us because if developers build great
applications then they’re providing a service to our users and strengthening the social graph.
This is a big opportunity. We provide the integration and distribution and developers provide
the applications. We help users share more information and together we benefit.”

31.  Mr. Zuckerberg and Facebook continued to repeat the message that Facebook

benefited from an “open” Facebook Platform that allowed any social app developer to

interoperate. In 2008, Mr. Zuckerberg observed that f2 2 £

10
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| Inearly 2012, a Facebook Initial Public Offering
document stated that “[t[he success of our Platform developers and the vibrancy of our Platform
ecosystem are key to increasing user engagement [on Facebook Blue]. We continue to invest in
tools and APIs that enhance the ability of Platform developers to deliver products that are more
social and personalized and better engage users on Facebook [Blue], across the web, and on
mobile devices.”

32. Facebook’s open platform was designed to attract not only new developers, but
also (i) new Facebook users attracted by the developers that interoperated with Facebook’s
Platform; and (ii) greater engagement from existing Facebook users as they enjoyed new
functionality on the platform. In each case, Facebook’s Platform was designed to create and
leverage the network effects that come with an increased user base and engagement. And each
drove the other: more users meant more developers, and more developers meant more users.
Both were good for Facebook.

33.  Following the 2007 launch of Platform, Facebook frequently added new tools for
developers to use, usually at its semi-annual “f8” developers conference. For example, in 2008,
Facebook launched Facebook Connect, a tool that enabled developers to let their users log into
the developer’s websites or apps using their Facebook credentials, “bring their Facebook
account information, friends and privacy” to the developer’s service, and share content back to
Facebook. Use of Facebook Connect by developers benefitted Facebook by increasing the
amount of engaging content on Facebook Blue and making Facebook more ubiquitous across
the internet.

34. Facebook continued to add functionalities to Platform, including APIs that allowed

third-party apps access to Facebook user data. An API is a structured way for different pieces of

11
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software to communicate and share data or functionality with one another. APIs are used widely
online to facilitate communication among businesses and other entities, integration or
interoperation between products and services, and the development of new products built “on top
of” the features or data of others.

35. By providing an API, businesses can enable third-party developers to
programmatically interact with certain data or functionality from the API provider. This is a
common pattern for businesses that wish to enable the development of products that are
complementary or adjacent to their own products without building those products themselves.

In these situations, the API provider makes available to third-party developers the data and
functionality needed to interoperate with the provider. By providing critical interoperability,
many APIs effectively serve as a means of distribution for third-party developers in digital
markets.

36. Facebook Platform comprises access to many different APIs, and many have
changed over time. Graph API, launched in 2010, is one of the core Facebook Platform
APIs. Although it, too, has changed over the years, its general purpose has been to facilitate the
exchange of a multitude of different types of information and data between Facebook’s social
graph and other apps, including both Facebook and third-party products. After Facebook grants a
third-party developer access to particular endpoints of Graph API, that developer can use Graph
API to retrieve and/or create those particular types of information within Facebook’s social
graph. For example, Graph API can be used to retrieve the photos that a user has uploaded to
Facebook Blue, or to publish a video to a user’s Facebook Blue timeline. The data available
through Graph API can provide developers with an important means to achieve distribution and

grow their user bases.

12
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37.  In 2010, Facebook provided third-party apps with access to critical APIs through
Graph API, including the Find Friends API (providing information about a user’s Facebook
friends) and other APIs used to access user content from Facebook Blue. The Find Friends API,
in particular, was a valuable growth tool for third-party apps because it enabled users of such apps
to find their Facebook Blue friends who also used the third-party app and to invite those friends
who did not.

38.  In 2010, Facebook also added the Open Graph and Social Plugins to Facebook
Platform, which enabled third-party apps and websites to add features such as the Facebook “Like”
button to their own services. Using the Like button, Facebook Blue users could like and share
their interest in the third-party app. Third-party apps were motivated to install the Like button and
encourage its use, as a “Like” would be shared on the user’s news feed and profile on Facebook
Blue, which could attract additional users to the third-party app.

39.  Open access to Facebook Platform was important to developers from the time that
Facebook introduced it for at least three primary reasons. First, Facebook Platfcrm offered
developers a unique distribution channel for their products and services, promising to allow
developers to exploit Facebook’s massive social graph to “spur mass distribution.” Second, tools
like Graph API, Social Plugins, and Open Graph provided developers with the ability to engage
their users through personalized experiences: “For example, if you like a band on [the music
service] Pandora, that information can become part of the graph so that later if you visit a concert
site, the site can tell you when the band you like is coming to your area.” Third, Facebook Platform
enabled developers to advertise their products and conduct in-app transactions. With thase benefits
on offer, and the company’s active encouragement, developers were induced to rely on Facebook’s

open access policies and invested in developing compatible products.

13
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40. Usage of Open Graph grew rapidly. One week after the introduction of Open
Graph, over 50,000 websites had installed Open Graph plug-ins. Those sites realized the
immediate benefits of a massive new distribution channel. By July 2008, one year after it
launched, more than 400,000 developers were already using Facebook Platform. By April 2010,

’ developers were using Facebook Platform. By July 2012, Open Graph was being

used to share nearly one billion pieces of social data each day to Facebook Blue, giving Facebook
substantially greater and more granular information about its users and their online activities.

41.  This strategy not only integrated users’ online activities more fully into Facebook
Blue, but also drove profits for Facebook. As a Facebook executive summarized in a May 2012
email to Facebook Chief Operating Officer (“COO”) Sheryl Sandberg: “Because we have this
critical mass of people, that attracts new people to sign up, it attracts developers who want to find
customers for their apps and websites, and it attracts advertisers [who] want to reach the
audience[.]” The executive explained that Facebook had “[r]eached a size now where you can
imagine as a developer that most of your current and future users/customers are on Facebook[,]”
noting that “[7] of the top 10 apps in the Apple App store are Facebook enabled].]”

42.  Further, third-party apps helped Facebook grow through Facebook plug-ins and by
directing social data, such as “Likes,” back to Facebook Blue. These interactions also provided
Facebook with critical information about the extent to which users interacted with third-party apps
and enabled it to closely track and identify usage trends in their incipiency.

C. Facebook Surpassed Early Competitors to Become the Dominant Social
Network

43.  Facebook grew rapidly following its 2006 expansion beyond schools to the general
public. According to ordinary course documents, between May 2007 and May 2008, Facebook’s

monthly active users grew n, while those of Myspace—its primary competitor—grew just

14



=D

Case 1:20-cv-03590-JEB Document 75-1 Filed 08/19/21 Page 15 of 80

| over the same period. By 2009, Facebook had surpassed Myspace and established

itself as the most popular personal social networking provider in the United States and the world.
In October 2011, according to internally circulated figures, Facebook had 156 million unique users
in the United States averaging 441 minutes per visitor on the service. At the same time, Myspace
had just twenty-seven million users in the United States averaging merely ten minutes per visitor.
By 2011, Facebook was touting to its advertising clients that “Facebook is now 95% of all social
media in the US.”

44.  Facebook’s Platform policies helped to fuel its growth. After launching its
Facebook Platform and Open Graph initiatives, Facebook grew significantly, adding an average
of more than ten million monthly active users in the United States each year from 2010 to 2018.

D. Facebook’s Business Model: Selling Advertising Based on Detailed User Data

45.  While there are several ways in which personal social networking could be
monetized, Facebook has chosen to monetize its product by mining the personal data of its users
and selling behavioral advertising.

46.  This practice has been highly profitable for Facebook. Advertisers now pay
billions—approximately $84 billion in 2020—to display their ads to specific sets of Facebook Blue
and Instagram users. Facebook serves up these “audiences™ using proprietary algorithms that
analyze the vast quantity of data the company collects on its users. This allows advertisers to
target different campaigns and messages to different groups of users. Ads displayed by Facebook
are interspersed with—and can be similar in appearance to—user-generated content.

47.  Facebook recognizes the unique characteristics of the advertising that a personal
social network can offer (“social advertising™). For example, in earnings calls, Facebook COO

Sheryl Sandberg described Facebook Blue as the “world’s first global platform that lets marketers
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personalize their messages at unprecedented scale,” and called Facebook Blue and Instagram the
“two most important mobile advertising platforms” in the world.

48. Social advertising is distinct from other forms of advertising, including other forms
of display advertising, search advertising, and “offline” advertising (e.g., television, radio, and
print).

49.  Social advertising is a distinct form of display advertising. Display advertising
refers to the display of advertisements—in the form of images, text, or videos—on websites or
apps when a user visits or uses them. Display advertising is distinct from “offline” advertising,
such as television, radio, and print advertising, because it offers the ability to reach consumers
during their online activity (including during their use of mobile devices like smartphones and
tablets), allows for interactive ads, and permits rich ad targeting to users using personal data
generated and collected through their online activity. Display advertising is also distinct from
search advertising, which is a form of digital advertising that is shown to a person when he or she
enters a specific search term in an online search engine, like Google or Bing. Advertisers buy
search advertising to target consumers who are actively inquiring about a particular type of product
or service. By contrast, display advertising reaches consumers who are not actively querying a
search engine, including consumers who may be further from making a specific purchase decision.

50. Social advertising is a type of display advertising, but it is distinct in several ways
from the non-social display advertising found on websites and apps that are not personal social
networks. For example, in part because users must log in to a personal social network with unique
user credentials, social advertising enables advertisers to target users based on personalized data
regarding users’ personal connections, activities, identity, demographics, interests, and hobbies.

Also, in contrast to display advertising on other websites and apps, social advertising leverages
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high engagement and frequent contact with users, as well as the integration of advertisements
directly into a user’s feed of content generated by personal connections (including ads that
resemble “native” content and boosted content). In addition, social advertising facilitates forms
of engagement with the advertisement that are not available with other forms of display
advertising—such as allowing a user to share an advertisement with a personal connection, or to
“like” or follow an advertiser’s page. Among other things, the foregoing characteristics enable
social advertising providers to sell advertisers access to personally targeted “audiences” of highly
engaged users, and to reach users that need not be actively searching for—or even aware of—the
advertised product or service.

51. AsMs. Sandberg emphasized in a 2012 earnings call: “[O]n the question of where
advertisers are, you know as I’ve said before, we are a third thing. We’re not TV, we’re not search.
We are social advertising.” Facebook in particular has a preeminent ability to target users with
advertising due to its scale, its high level of user engagement, and its ability to track users both on
and off Facebook properties to measure outcomes.

52.  Benefiting from the vast trove of data Facebook collects on users, Facebook’s social
advertising business is extraordinarily profitable. According to its public earnings reports,
Facebook earns “substantially all of [its] revenue from selling advertising placements to
marketers.”

E. The Threat to Facebook from the Emergence of the Mobile Internet

53. Beginning around 2010, the widespread adoption of smartphones marked a
significant change in the way that people in the United States consumed digital services, with users
shifting from desktop computers to mobile devices. In the fourth quarter of 2009, smartphones

were adopted by only 21% of all mobile subscribers in the United States and only 30% of
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customers who héd recently acquired a new cell phone. By the second quarter of 2012,
smartphones were adopted by 55% of all mobile subscribers in the United States and accounted
for 67% of new mobile phone purchases. Estimates suggest that mobile data traffic increased 62%
from 2011 to 2012, and that by 2012, mobile data traffic was approximately seventy-three times
larger than U.S. mobile data traffic in 2007.

54. The shift to smartphones opened up opportunities for new businesses. Among other
features, smartphones are portable and offer integrated digital cameras. Social networking with
family and friends through taking, sharing, and commenting on photographs via a mobile app

optimized for that activity became increasingly popular, as services attempted to take advantage

of what

55.  Businesses that sought to ride the mobile wave—or use it to challenge entrenched

desktop-bound competitors—had to act promptly.
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56. Smartphones also facilitated the explosion of mobile messaging, which includes Q)
text messaging via short-message-service or multimedia-message-service protocols (“SMS”), and
(ii) text messaging via internet-based, over-the-top mobile messaging apps (“OTT mobile
messaging services”). Since 2011, when the messaging volume of SMS peaked, the messaging
volume of OTT mobile messaging services has grown astronomically. By April 2012, Mr.
Zuckerberg believed that “messaging is the single most important app on anyone’s phone.”

57.

Smartphone-enabled OTT
mobile messaging services, like WhatsApp, posed a threat to Facebook Blue. OTT mobile
messaging services generally have not charged a per-message fee and have provided
improvements over SMS, like enhanced features for sharing content (e.g., photos, videos, sound
clips, and GIFs) and the option to create persistent groups of users.

58.  Facebook offered Facebook Blue on mobile devices in an effort to address the rise
of mobile smartphones, but Facebook Blue’s performance on mobile devices was initially weak.
Facebook launched its first Facebook Blue mobile website in January 2007, its first native
Facebook Blue iPhone app in July 2008, and its first native Facebook Blue Android app in
September 2009. In a post announcing Facebook Blue for iPhone, the engineer responsible for the
app wrote “applications built for the iPhone have access to more technology than websites. For
example, with the native application you can take photos with the iPhone’s camera and upload
them instantly.” But by 2010, Facebook decided to re-write its native applications in HTML—the
language used for pages designed to be viewed in a web browser. The effort, which it called

Faceweb, failed to improve Facebook’s mobile offerings, and by June 2011, reviews for Facebook
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Blue for iPhone had languished to an all-time low average of two-stars. Mr. Zuckerberg would
later call the decision to write in HTML “the biggest mistake we made as a company.”

59. By late 2011, Mr. Zuckerberg and other executives realized that Facebook Blue
offered a relatively poor experience for mobile users, and that this made Facebook’s monopoly
position more vulnerable than it had ever been. In addition, Facebook struggled to translate its
social advertising model onto mobile devices. The transition to mobile required Facebook to

transform the manner in which its advertisements were displayed: as Mr. Zuckerberg described it,

60. Given these mounting consecutive failures, Facebook justifiably feared that its
personal social networking monopoly, and its enormous advertising profits, would be threatened
by a mobile-first competitor emerging and gaining traction by connecting users in innovative ways
and exploiting mobile phones’ photo or messaging capabilities. Such an entrant could
substantially threaten Facebook’s advertising profits. A competitor able to launch a popular
product could capture a rich set of data on mobile users’ behavior, which would not be available
to Facebook due to its unattractive mobile performance. Facebook had an acute need for such data
as it increasingly sought to target advertisements based on granular information about individual
users, including their identities, behavior, and locations. In order to monetize its user base,
Facebook needed to target advertising to individuals who would be most receptive. And Facebook
could not determine which users would be most receptive to which advertisements without a
critical mass of data regarding users’ activity. Alternatively, a competitor could offer an
advertisement-free business model, which could undermine Facebook’s ability to monetize user
attention. In particular, WhatsApp emerged as a rapidly growing OTT mobile messaging app that

pursued an advertising-free business model (prior to its acquisition by Facebook).

20



54

Case 1:20-cv-03590-JEB  Document 75-1 Filed 08/19/21 Page 21 of 80

61.  To ensure it continued to dominate despite its sub-par mobile performance,

Facebook undertook a

But Facebook could not accept the possibility that a rival
might threaten its monopoly position, and its enormous advertising profits, in the time it would
take Facebook to improve its inferior mobile offerings. Realizing it could not maintain its

monopoly based on the merits of its own offerings, Facebook then sought tof the transition

to mobile through anticompetitive actions to protect its dominance.

F. For Many Years, Facebook Has Focused on Acquiring Potential Rivals and Those
Who Might Aid Potential Rivals

62.  The proliferation of smartphones and the transition to the mobile internet in the
2010-2014 timeframe transformed the way that users consumed social networking and other digital
services. This critical yet fleeting transition period introduced the risk that a new and nimble
startup could be better placed than Facebook to quickly exploit these changes in technology and
user behavior.

63.  One way to deal with this threat was to acquire any startup that could threaten
Facebook’s dominance during this window of opportunity. Acquiring competitive threats that
introduce innovative mechanics is particularly attractive to a dominant incumbent during periods
of disruption, such as the transition to the mobile internet. This proposition was especially true in
Facebook’s case, given the company’s failing attempts to transition its own offerings to this new
environment.

64.  Maintaining its monopoly through acquisition was a natural choice for Facebook.
The company has long sought to achieve and maintain dominance through acquisitions rather than
competition, reflecting a deeply rooted view within Facebook that, as Mr. Zuckerberg put it in a

June 2008 internal email, “it is better to buy than compete.” Facebook’s acquisitions have often
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focused on arresting the growth of potential rivals: for example, following Facebook’s failed 2008
attempt to acquire Twitter, Mr. Zuckerberg wrote: “I was looking forward to the extra time that
would have given us to get our product in order.” Facebook has also made multiple overtures to
acquire Snapchat over the years, moving quickly when it believed that Snapchat might have had
other well-financed suitors that could have bolstered its competitive position.

65.  Personal social networking services are characterized by strong network effects: a
provider’s service is generally more valuable to a user when more of the user’s friends and family
are using that service. Once a personal social networking service has achieved dominant scale,
these effects make competition and entry harder, even for a rival that users perceive as offering a
higher quality product.

66.  As a result, and as Facebook well understands, the most significant competitive
threats to Facebook Blue may arise from a differentiated product that is able to gain scale quickly
by offering users a superior “mechanic” (that is, a distinctive way of interacting with friends and
family, such as sharing photos). Facebook’s strategy to prevent innovative entrants from gaining
scale and benefiting from network effects has consisted of acquiring innovators and—where
possible—transforming their products into integral parts of the company’s competitive “moat.”
Mr. Zuckerberg clearly explained this strategy in a February 2012 email advocating the acquisition
of Instagram: “[TThere are network effects around social products and a finite number of different
social mechanics to invent. Once someone wins at a specific mechanic, it’s difficult for others to
supplant them without doing something different. It’s possible someone beats Instagram by
building something that is better to the point that they get network migration, but this is harder as

long as Instagram keeps running as a product.” (Emphasis added.)
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67. As Mr. Zuckerberg recognized, by simply acquiring firms able to gain scale,
Facebook could make up for its failure to innovate and forestall future threats: “[O]ne way of
looking at this is that what we’re really buying is time. Even if some new competitors spring[] up,
buying Instagram, Path, Foursquare, etc now will give us a year or more to integrate their dynamics
before anyone can get close to their scale again. Within that time, if we incorporate the social
mechanics they were using, those new products won't get much traction since we’ll already have
their mechanics deployed at scale.” (Emphasis added.)

68.  Facebook has long focused on detecting potential threats at an early stage, in order
to neutralize them before they have a chance to either grow on their own or facilitate the growth
of other potential Facebook rivals.

69.  Facebook’s focus on detecting threats early is illustrated by its 2013 acquisition of
Onavo, a firm which billed itself as the “most comprehensive market intelligence service in the
mobile industry.” Onavo marketed itself to users as providing secure virtual private networking
services, but—unknown to many users—it also tracked users’ activity online. Facebook
understood that surveilling users would enable it to identify services that were growing rapidly
and potentially diverting users from Facebook, thus making Onavo “really cool for identifying
acquisition targets.”

70. In October 2013, Facebook acquired Onavo for -, and within days,
Onavo’s business customers were informed that their access to Onavo’s services would be
terminated in six days. The move thwarted potential Facebook rivals that could have used Onavo’s
services to identify firms they might partner with or acquire in order to compete with Facebook.

Cut-off Onavo customers expressed their frustration.
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71. By acquiring Onavo, Facebook obtained control of, and denied its potential rivals
access to, data that it used to track the growth and popularity of other apps. As a December 2013
internal slide deck noted: “With our acquisition of Onavo, we now have insight into the most
popular apps. We should use that to a’so help us make strategic acquisitions.” Facebook has used
Onavo data to generate internal “Early Bird” reports for Facebook executives, which focused on
“apps that are gaining prominence in the mobile eco-system in a rate or manner which makes them
stand out.”

72.  Facebook has used its Onavo data to identify acquisition targets, including
WhatsApp, to execute the playbook Mr. Zuckerberg identified in connection with the Instagram
purchase: acquire a potential rival and keep the rival’s mechanics deployed to frustrate others’
efforts to gain scale using similar mechanics. For example, Facebook reportedly used Onavo to
identify acquisition target “tbh,” a polling app that had achieved 2.5 million daily active users
within only nine weeks of launch. At the time of the 2017 acquisition, tbh was popular amongst
teens and growing rapidly. Although Facebook initially announced plans to maintain tbh as a
distinct brand, it ended up ultimately sauttering it.

73.  Facebook shut down Onavo in 2019 following public scrutiny; however, it
continues to track and evaluate potential competitive threats using other data.

74. While Onavo’s mobile data turbo-charged Facebook’s ability to identify and
eliminate potential threats, Facebook had been executing the same basic strategy for years prior to
the Onavo acquisition. For example, in 2008, Facebook licensed contact importing services from
a company called Octazen. Contact importing services facilitate the rapid growth of networks of
contacts—critical to direct network effects—by seamlessly pulling contacts from a user’s digital

address book and importing them for use in an app. Facebook soon realized that acquiring Octazen

24



GO

Case 1:20-cv-03590-JEB  Document 75-1 Filed 08/19/21 Page 25 of 80

would deprive rivals and potential rivals of this “key” resource for growth and engagement. As
an executive explained: “By [buying Octazen], we would: . . . Let [sic] everyone else in the
industry without a provider for contact importer libraries.” In discussing the acquisition, Facebook
executives focused not on what Octazen would add to Facebook, but on how the acquisition would
let Facebook deny rivals a technology key for increasing user interactions and generating network
effects. Describing this dynamic, another executive explained that the Octazen “acquisition could
be interesting if for a few million we could slow some competitors down for a quarter or so . ...
Immediately after completing the ecquisition in February 2010, Facebook terminated all third-
party access to Octazen.

75. Likewise, in 2012, Facebook learned that oy a

new “social discovery” app that might have fueled the growth of —

The app. called Glancee, used geolocation services to help users meet

new people. Facebook then acquired Glancee and simultaneously shut the app down, terminating

services to Glancee’s users. Two years later, Facebook launched a location-based feature
on Facebook Blue that utilized Glancee’s technology, but in a scaled-back form that allowed users
to know only when their existing Facebook friends were nearby.

76. Similarly, after learning that Snapchat and others were interested in EyeGroove, an
app that allowed users to create and share music videos with augmented reality effects, Facebook

decided to move quickly to acquire it in 2016—and then shut the app down.

V. FACEBOOK’S ANTICOMPETITIVE CONDUCT

77.  Central to Facebook’s efforts to “derisk™ the transition to mobile was its strategy to

buy or bury innovators threatening t> out-compete Facebook in the new mobile environment.
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78.  Facebook’s anticompetitive course of conduct includes the acquisition and
continued control of Instagram, which has neutralized a significant independent personal social
networking provider; and the acquisition and continued control of WhatsApp, which has
neutralized a significant competitive threat to Facebook’s personal social networking services
monopoly. Acquiring these competitive threats has enabled Facebook to sustain its dominance—
to the detriment of competition and users—not by competing on the merits, but by avoiding
competition.

79.  Facebook’s course of conduct also includes conditional dealing policies embodied
in agreements with firms that interoperated with its platform, which Facebook introduced as a way
to weaponize platform access. Facebook implemented these agreements, and enforced them where
necessary, to bury other potential threats and prevent rivals from eroding its monopoly power.

A. Facebook Has Engaged in Anticompetitive Acquisitions to Protect Its Dominant
Position, Including the Acquisitions of Instagram and WhatsApp

1. Facebook Acquired Instagram to Neutralize a Competitor

80.  Instagram was a serious threat to Facebook’s dominance given its made-for-mobile
offerings. Following its launch in October 2010 for iOS devices, Instagram quickly gained
popularity with users seeking a product that facilitated photo-based social interactions with friends
and family.

81.  Instagram’s growth was stellar. It gained 25,000 users on its first day; 100,000
users in a week; one million users in less than three months; and ten million users in less than a
year—all while available only on Apple’s iOS devices and before launching on Android devices.

82.  Facebook watched Instagram’s emergence with mounting anxiety. In February
2011, Mr. Zuckerberg wrote to colleagues: “In 4 months they’re up to 2m users and 300k daily

photo uploads. That’s a lot. We need to track this closely.”
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83.

Facebook initially tried to compete on the merits with mobile photo-sharing

capabilities, dedicating significant resources to developing its own camera app, code-named

“Snap.” But despite relentless pressure from senior management, these efforts achieved limited

success. In July 2011, one executive demanded: “[W]hy is mobile photos app development

moving so slowly? We still are getting our ass kicked by Instagram.” And by September 201 1,

Mr. Zuckerberg was railing: “In the time it has taken us to get ou[r] act together on this[,] Instagram

has become a large and viable competitor to us on mobile photos, which will increasingly be the

future of photos.”

84.

Recognizing that photos were integral to the popularity of many Facebook Blue

features, and therefore to Facebook Blue’s overall prevalence, in that same September 2011 email,

Mr. Zuckerberg warned that Instagram was a major threat:

One theme in many of the products we 're about to launch - News Feed, Timeline,
Open Graph — is that people love nice big photos. A lot of the time people don’t
even understand how the new News Feed or Timeline work, but they love those
products because of the bigger and richer photos. While this is nice in the short
term, [ view this as a big strategic risk for us if we don’t completely own the photos
space. If Instagram continues to kick ass on mobile or if Google buys them, then
over the next few years they could easily add pieces of their service that copy what
we 're doing now, and if they have a growing number of people’s photos then that’s
a real issue for us.

They’re growing extremely quickly right now. It seems like they double every
couple of months or so, and their base is already -5-10m users. As soon as we
launch a compelling product a lot of people will use ours more and future Instagram
users will find no reason to use them. But at the current rate, literally every couple
of months that we waste translates to a double in their growth and a harder position
Jor us to work our way out of. (Emphasis added.)

85.  Facebook employees scrambled to meet Mr. Zuckerberg’s demands. In an internal

email dated September 13, 2011, Facebook’s Director of Engineering reminded her team: “Zuck

is anxious for the [Facebook] snap app (mainly motivated by a desire to slow down Instagram’s

growth).”

27



Case 1:20-cv-03590-JEB  Document 75-1 Filed 08/19/21 Page 28 of 80

63

86.  Facebook’s leadership feared not only an independent Instagram, but also an

Instagram in the hands of another purchaser, such as Google (mentioned by Mr. Zuckerberg in the

September 2011 email above), Apple, or Twitter. In April 2012, a Facebook engineer warned Mr.

Zuckerberg of “the potential for someone like Apple to use [Instagram] as a foothold.” And an

investor in Instagram and former Facebook executive underscored the threat of Twitter: “if twitter

and instragram [sic] became one company it would make life more difficult for facebook.”

87.  As Instagram soared, Facebook’s leaders began to focus on the prospect of

acquiring Instagram rather than competing with it. For example, in January 2012, the head of

Facebook’s internal Mergers and Acquisitions (“M&A”) group wrote to Mr. Zuckerberg to suggest

“mé&ea” as a solution to this problem, in order to increase users” switching costs, retain engagement,

and lock users into Facebook Blue:

[1] think photos in general and certainly in conjunction with mobile is a weak spot
Sor us, yet represents a large part of many users[’] engagement on fb. i view this
as both a significant threat (google/picasa/android, instagram, etc.) and
opportunity. . . . imo, photos (along with comprehensive/smart contacts and unified
messaging) is perhaps one of the most important ways we can make switching costs
very high for users - if we are where all users’ photos reside because the upoading
[sic] (mobile and web), editing, organizing, and sharing features are best in class,
will be very tough for a user to switch if they can’t take those photos and associated
data/comments with them. i think this area should be a priority for us organically
and through m&a especially given competitive dynamics. (Emphasis added.)

88. By February 2012, Mr. Zuckerberg predicted that an independent Instagram could

soon achieve massive scale, and suggested that Facebook should move to acquire it:

If [my analytical] framework holds true, then we should expect apps like Instagram
to be able to grow quite large. 1f it has 15m users now, it might be able to reach
100-200m in the next 1-2 years. (Intuitively this is not crazy because in the next
year alone iOS should double and it should spread to Android, so even without
further increase in market share it should grow by at least 4x this year.) If those
assumptions hold true, then we should perhaps be more open to buying these
companies than we currently seem to be. (Emphasis added.)
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89.

Throughout this period, Mr. Zuckerberg repeatedly explained the case for

acquisition in terms of Instagram’s threat as a personal social networking competitor. In February

2012, he wrote:

I'wonder if we should consider buying Instagram, even if it costs ~$500m. . . . For
the network piece, one concerning trend is that a huge number of people are using
Instagram every day -- including everyone ranging from non-technical high school
Jriends to even FB employees -- and they 're only uploading some of their photos to
FB. This creates a huge hole for us and one that I’'m [sic] sure anything we’re going
to do on platform or with social dynamics will completely solve. Sometimes you
don’t want to bug all your FB friends with a lot of photos so you put them in the
photo-posting place instead. With [Facebook] Snap, our basic thesis is that what
people need is a good way to post a bunch of photos on FB. We’re doing some
work on filters but not a ton, and the team is approaching this more as a nice feature
and somewhat of a gimmick. Instagram, on the other hand, is approaching this
problem from the perspective of how to help people take beautiful photos. I think
it’s quite possible that our initial thesis was wrong and that theirs is right -- that
what people want is more to take the best photos than to put them on FB. If so,
[Facebook] Snap might be a good first step but we’d be very behind in both
Junctionality and brand on how one of the core use cases of Facebook will evolve
in the mobile world, which is really scary and why we might want to consider
paying a lot of money for this. (Emphasis added.)

90. Later that month, Mr. Zuckerberg wrote in similar terms to David Ebersman,

Facebook’s Chief Financial Officer (“CFO”) at the time:

One business questions [sic] I’ve been thinking about recently is how much we
should be willing to pay to acquire mobile app companies like Instagram and Path
that are building networks that are competitive with our own. These companies
have the properties where they have millions of users (up to about 20m at the
moment for Instagram), fast growth, a small team (10-25 employees) and no
revenue. The businesses are nascent but the networks are established, the brands
are already meaningful and if they grow to a large scale they could be very
disruptive to us. These entrepreneurs don’t want to sell (largely inspired [by] our
success), but at a high enough price -- like $500m or $1b -- they’d have to consider
it. Given that we think our own valuation is fairly aggressive right now and that
we 're vulnerable in mobile, I'm curious if we should consider going after one or
two of them. What do you think about this? (Emphasis added.)

91.

Mr. Ebersman cautioned that acquiring a nascent competitor was a poor reason for

an acquisition since “someone else will spring up immediately in their place” and “[w]e will
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always have upstarts nipping at our heels.” But, as Mr. Zuckerberg explained, Mr. Ebersman was
wrong:

It’s a combination of (1) [i.e., neutralizing a potential competitor] and (3 )
[integrating acquired products into Facebook]. The basic plan would be to buy
these companies and leave their products running while over time incorporating the
social dynamics they’ve invented into our core products. One thing that may make
[neutralizing a potential competitor] more reasonable here is that there are
network effects around social products and a finite number of different social
mechanics to invent. Once someone wins at a specific mechanic, it’s difficult for
others to supplant them without doing something different. It’s possible someone
beats Instagram by building something that is better to the point that they get
network migration, but this is harder as long as Instagram keeps running as a
product. [Integrating acquired products into FB ] is also a factor but in reality we
alveady know these companies’ social dynamics and will integrate them over the
next 12-24 months anyway. The integration plan involves building their mechanics
into our products rather than directly integrating their products if that makes sense.
By a combination of (1) and (3), one way of looking at this is that what we’re really
buying is time. Even if some new competitors spring(] up, buying Instagram, Path,
Foursquare, etc now will give us a year or more to integrate their dynamics before
anyone can get close to their scale again. Within that time, if we incorporate the
social mechanics they were using, those new products won't get much traction since
we’ll already have their mechanics deployed at scale. (Emphasis added.)

92. On March 9, 2012, Mr. Zuckerberg emailed Facebook’s Vice President of
Engineering (and later Chief Technology Officer) Mike Schroepfer to let him know that “Kevin
[Systrom] from Instagram called me yesterday to talk about selling his [company] to us. He said
he thinks he’ll either raise money or sell at $500m.” Mr. Schroepfer replied that “not losing
strategic position in photos is worth a lot of money.”

93. Similarly, on April 4, 2012, Ms. Sandberg and other senior managers received an
email report that compared usage of Instagram and Facebook Blue on the iPhone, which flagged
that “Facebook is not that far ahead [of Instagram] on iPhone.” Ms. Sandberg forwarded the email
to Mr. Zuckerberg, noting: “This makes me want instagram more[.]”

94.  Meanwhile, Facebook employees continued their efforts to compete with Instagram

by developing a standalone photo-sharing app for the Facebook Blue network. In an email dated
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April 3, 2012, Mr. Schroepfer reminded a Facebook engineer, with respect to Facebook’s own
photo app: “[W]e need to get into ship mode asap. Not sure if you saw the recent instgram [sic]
numbers but we just don’t have much time.” The engineer responded: “Yeah, Instagram stats are
scary and we need to ship asap. I’ll communicate to the team that we need to enter into launch
mode.”

95.  On April 9, 2012, Facebook announced that it had reached an agreement to acquire
Instagram for $1 billion, Facebook’s most expensive acquisition as of that date. Facebook paid a
premium for Instagram, reflecting the significant threat that Instagram posed to Facebook’s
monopoly. The same day, Mr. Zuckerberg wrote privately to a colleague to celebrate suppressing
the threat: “I remember your internal post about how Instagram was our threat and not Google+.
You were basically right. One thing about startups though is you can often acquire them.”

96. Meanwhile, Facebook employees celebrated the acquisition of an existential threat.
For example, on April 10, 2012—two days after the announcement—the head of Facebook’s
internal M&A group wrote to Mr. Ebersman emphasizing that Instagram had “done a great job in
one of the main tenets of social networking as we know it today (photos), but where social
networking is clearly headed (mobile).” He noted that “their growth trajectory is pretty incredible,
mark asked them yesterday during their visit when they will reach 100m users and they said their
projections are for end of this year.”

97.  Other close observers of Facebook recognized that Facebook had neutralized a
significant competitive threat by buying Instagram. For example, in an email dated April 12,2012,
a major Facebook shareholder and former Facebook executive wrote to Instagram co-founder
Kevin Systrom:

I have been prodding various FB folks, including Zuck, for at least 6 months to do
this, do it quickly, and do it at any cost. From my perspective the risk of not buying
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you guys (and someone like Google snapping you up) was beginning to make me,

and a lot of other major shareholders, extremely uncomfortable. . . . [I]n the last few

years [Facebook] allowed [its] core photos product (and its mobile offering) to

languish. As a result the photos product never realized its ultimate potential, and

worse, it ran the risk of the unthinkable happening - being eclipsed by another
networkwith a “parallel graph”. As you know, photos is the lifeblood of Facebook,
propping up the whole network through the usage, interaction, and positive feedback

loops it generates, and time on site is directly linked to photo browsing. Going back

to 2005, shortly after I launched photos it was generating ~50% of all Facebook

page views, a stat which remained fairly steady until the introduction of games on

platform. (Emphasis added.)

98.  Less than two weeks after the acquisition was announced, Mr. Zuckerberg
suggested canceling or scaling back investment in Facebook’s own mobile photo app as a direct
result of the Instagram deal, writing in an email dated April 22, 2012: “Examples of things we
could scale back or cancel: ... Mobile photos app (since we’re acquiring Instagram).” And
Facebook did indeed allow it to die, making only two updates to it before discontinuing it entirely
in 2014.

99.  In the wake of the Instagram acquisition, Facebook employees felt that they no
longer needed to fear that a personal social networking competitor would emerge using mobile
photo-sharing. For example, in an email dated April 23, 2012, a Facebook business development
manager wrote to colleagues that he was unconcerned about the apps Camera+ and Hipstamatic
because, among other things, “Instagram is clear winner on iOS and would [be] difficult to
compete with at this point[.]” In an October 2012 document, a Facebook product director
recognized that its ownership of Instagram meant it “effectively dominate[d] photo sharing,” and
would not be “require[d] to do much work to maintain or extend” that dominance.

100. Facebook’s acquisition of Instagram neutralized a singularly threatening personal

social networking competitor and an increasingly serious threat to Facebook Blue’s monopoly.

An investor slide deck dated May 31, 2011, underscored Instagram’s founders’ plan “to develop a
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complete social networking service.” Mr. Systrom emphasized the breadth of this vision to Mr.
Zuckerberg in private correspondence shortly before the acquisition:

[My vision for Instagram] means not limiting the scope of Instagram to just photos

- but to explore other mediums as well which support the original vision of Burbn

[Instagram’s original name] being to improve the way we communicate and share

in the real world. . . . Is it a next-generation photos app or is it a next-generation

communication app? 1 don’t mean to get overly philosophical, but the limits of our

ambitions have really yet to be tested, and I want to see that through at least for

now. The desire to have an effect at the scale of FB is real and tangible, and one

that is actually quite hard to balance in our minds. (Emphasis added.)

101.  Instagram also planned and expected to be an important advertising competitor. An
investor slide deck dated May 31, 2011, records Instagram’s plan to earn revenues through mobile
advertising. Likewise, in a January 2012 email, Mr. Systrom explained to an external partner:
“[W]e believe in the long run brands will pay to either be featured, have their content featured, or
run targeted ‘instagrams’ to people as advertisements. Right now we raised enough money that
we can work on building a product people love before going to try to sell to advertisers. We want
an audience first[.]”

102. By acquiring Instagram, Facebook neutralized Instagram as an independent
competitor to Facebook Blue. Since the acquisition, Facebook has taken actions to reduce the
impact of Instagram on Facebook Blue, confirming that Instagram is a significant threat to
Facebook’s personal social networking monopoly. For instance, after the acquisition, Facebook
limited promotions of Instagram that would otherwise have drawn users away from Facebook
Blue. This disappointed Mr. Systrom, who complained in a November 2012 email: “you keep
mentioning how you can’t promote Instagram until you understand it’s [sic] effect on FB
engagement. Who decided this?”

103. Facebook’s Vice President of Growth responded: “Chris [Cox, Vice President of

Product,] voiced the concern (which btw I agree with) about instagram’s feed cannibalizing our
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own / training users to check multiple feeds—which is why we want to first measure the impact
of instagram’s usage on our engagement / wire things up to make sure it is all accretive. ...l am
not sure growing Instagram blindly through promotions without understanding the impact on FB’s
engagement makes sense[.]”

104.  Nevertheless, despite Facebook’s efforts to minimize Instagram’s impact on

Facebook Blue, Facebook Blue continues to lose ground to Instagram. For example, —

105.  In sum, Facebook’s acquisition and control of Instagram represents the
neutralization of a significant threat to Facebook Blue’s personal social networking monopoly and
the unlawful maintenance of that monopoly by means other than competition on the merits. This
conduct deprives users of the benefits of competition from an independent Instagram (either on its
own or acquired by a third party), including, among other things: the presence of an additional
locus of competitive decision-making and innovation; a check on Facebook Blue’s treatment of
and level of service offered to users, including ad load and level of privacy; an alternative provider
of personal social networking for users untethered from Facebook’s control; and a spur for
Facebook to compete on the merits in response. Facebook’s ownership and control of Instagram
also maintains a protective “moat” that deters and hinders competition and entry in personal social
networking.

106. Facebook cannot substantiate merger-specific efficiencies or other procompetitive

benefits sufficient to justify the Instagram acquisition.
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2. Facebook Acquired WhatsApp to Neutralize a Competitive Threat to Its Pzrsonal
Social Networking Monopoly

107.  After neutralizing the threat from Instagram, Facebook turned to what it considered
“the next biggest consumer risk” for Facebook Blue: the risk that an app offering mobile messaging
services would enter the personal social networking market, either by adding perscnal social
networking features or by launching a spinoff personal social networking app. Facebook identified
the popular and widely used mobile messaging app, WhatsApp, as the most significart threat in
this regard. Once again, though, rather than investing and innovating in an effort to out-compete
WhatsApp, Facebook responded to the competitive threat by acquiring it.

108.  Facebook’s leadership soon realized that a mobile messaging app that reached
sufficient scale could, by adding additional features and functionalities, enter the perscnal social
networking market at competitive scale and undermine or displace Facebook Blue’s personal
social networking monopoly. By early 2012, the risk that a successful mobile messaging app
available on multiple mobile operating systems could break into personal social networking had
- become a strategic focus for the company’s leadership. In an April 2012 email, for example, Mr.
Zuckerberg identified a troubling global trend of “messaging apps ... using messages as a
springboard to build more general mobile social networks.” And by October 2012, the threat was
widely recogﬁized within Facebock, with a Facebook business growth director predicting
internally that “[t]his might be the biggest threat we’ve ever faced as a company.”

109. Facebook’s leadership feared that mobile messaging would serve as a path for a
serious competitive threat to enter the personal social networking market. For example, i1 an April
2012 email, a Facebook data scient st noted: “[WThile these [mobile messaging] apps began as
alternatives to SMS, they are increasingly expanding into domains that more closely resemble

traditional social-networking services.” A couple of weeks later, he wrote again to colleagues:
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“We’re continuing to focus on mobile messenger apps. Two takeaways: several of these apps are
trying to expand into more full-fledged social networking; and a number are working on
international expansion but with varying degrees of success.” Likewise, in an August 2013 email,
the head of Facebook’s internal M&A group warned that “the scary part, of course, is that this kind
of mobile messaging is a wedge into broader social activity / sharing on mobile we have
historically led in web.”

110.  Facebook executives and employees saw this as a serious strategic threat. For
example, in an email dated October 4, 2012, Facebook’s Director of Product Management wrote
to colleagues on the subject of competition from mobile messaging services: “[T]his is the biggest
threat to our product that I’ve ever seen in my 5 years here at Facebook; it’s bigger than G+, and
we’re all terrified. These guys actually have a credible strategy: start with the most intimate social
graph (L.e. [sic] the ones you message on mobile), and build from there.”

111.  Similarly, notes included with a February 2013 Facebook board presentation titled
“Mobile Messaging” warned that mobile messaging services were “a threat to our core businesses:
both [with respect to] graph and content sharing. [T]hey are building gaming platforms, profiles,
and news feeds. [TThese competitors have all the ingredients for building a mobile-first social
network. . . . At its current rate, WhatsApp will be near SMS levels of messaging in 1 year[.]”

112. Mr. Zuckerberg also recognized the strategic value of mobile messaging services
as popular and important services in their own right. For example, in April 2012, he wrote:
“I actually think that messaging is the single most important app on anyone’s phone. It may not
be the biggest business, but it is almost certainly by far the most used app, and therefore it’s a
critical strategic point for us.” He continued: “Since we bought Instagram (and extended the close

date!), I now feel like we’re ahead in photos but falling increasingly behind in messages.”
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113. Facebook’s fears soon focused on WhatsApp, the leading OTT mobile messaging
services provider and a significant competitive threat to Facebook Blue’s personal social
networking monopoly. Launched in November 2009, WhatsApp’s distinctively strong user
experience and top-grade privacy protection had fueled stellar growth. By February 2014,
WhatsApp had more than 450 million monthly active users worldwide and was gaining users at a
rate of one million per day, placing it “on a path to connect 1 billion people.”

114.  Unlike other mobile messaging apps that had built a large user base in parts of Asia
but had not made inroads in the West, WhatsApp had not only achieved vast scale in Asia and
Europe, but was also building share in the United States. Unlike Apple’s iMessage app, which is
confined to the iOS operating system on Apple devices, WhatsApp was available on all the major
smartphone operating systems, positioning it as a credible threat to achieve significant cross-
platform scale. And unlike traditional SMS, WhatsApp offered a rich content-sharing ability akin
to a social network and increased encryption for privacy-conscious users. As a result, by 2014
WhatsApp was the clear “category leader” in mobile messaging and threatened a move or spin-off
into the personal social networking market.

115.  In a direct effort to prevent WhatsApp from gaining scale, Facebook in the fall of
2011 launched Facebook Messenger, an app that offered OTT mobile messaging services. On the
date of its global launch, the product director of Facebook Messenger wrote to his team that: “We
have a great shot of competing with Whatsapp on being the app for serious mobile messaging users
worldwide. . . . Whatsapp has 15 million (registered?) users. Let’s see how quickly can we get to

10 million daily actives.”
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116.  But Facebook soon realized that it was far behind WhatsApp. To improve its
performance and usage, Facebook would have had to spend considerable resources to catch up.
As Mr. Zuckerberg put it in April 2012:

[R]ight now, aside from Facebook integration, WhatsApp is legitimately a better

product for mobile messaging than even our standalone Messenger app. It’s more

reliable and faster for sending messages. You get better signal and feedback via

read receipts and last seen times. You can even reach most people easily via the

contacts integration. . . . [W]hatsApp sends more mobile messages per day than we

do by more than 2x, and they’re growing about 3x faster week-over-week. This is

a big deal. . . . [U]nfortunately for us, I don’t think there’s any way to directly

minimize the advantage which is their momentum and growth rate. Their growth

comes from the product and network they’ve built, so the best things that we can

do 1s build out our product and network as well and as quickly as we can.

117.  Facebook executives saw clearly that WhatsApp credibly threatened to increase its
scale in mobile messaging in the United States as it had already done in Europe and elsewhere.
One executive wrote to Mr. Zuckerberg on August 8, 2013: “[I] am really worried . . . these guys
[WhatsApp] are the real deal!” He continued: “With the window of opportunity to solve the
messaging situation shrinking there are a couple of things we might want to add to messenger 3.0
.... I'will run it by you offline briefly to get your thoughts / see if we should double down now
(it might be now or never given how fast these guys keep growing / the ambitions they are
signaling)[.]” Mr. Zuckerberg responded: “[I]f they build substantive features beyond just making
SMS free, that could be enough for them to tip markets like the US where SMS is still the primarily
[sic] platform.”

118. Facebook executives and employees repeatedly identified WhatsApp internally as
a unique threat to Facebook Blue that it would not be able to forestall through competition via

Facebook Messenger. For example:

a. InMay 2013, a Facebook director of product growth commented of WhatsApp’s CEO,
Jan Koum, that he is “our biggest competitor/threat today[.]”
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b. In July 2013, a director of engineering wrote: “‘If we don’t build the thing that kills
Facebook, someone else will,” and that’s WhatsApp (see below). I personally think
companies like WhatsApp are Facebook’s biggest threat . . . [.]”

¢. In August 2013, the Vice President of Growth noted: “We are definitely not playing in
the same field as whatsapp does . . .. [W]e might be already too late as of today for a
‘start from scratch strategy’ ... [.]”

d. In September 2013, the Vice President of Growth wrote further that if WhatsApp
became a platform “in a way that makes the user experience better / fuels growth -> we
are f.ed / this cements them as leader[.]”

119.  Facebook feared not only what WhatsApp would do independently, it also feared
what WhatsApp would do in the hands of another purchaser. As Facebook’s Vice President of
Growth wrote in October 2012, the “[bliggest problem would be if it lands in the wrong
hands...[.]” Facebook particularly feared an acquisition of WhatsApp by Google. As a manager
of engineering and co-founder of a messaging app that Facebook acquired in 2011 warned
colleagues in October 2012: “[T]he case for Google acquiring WhatsApp has only gotten stronger
in the past 6 months. . . . [I]f[WhatsApp] is acquirable at all, the risks of us not being the acquirer
have grown.” Facebook’s Vice President of Growth agreed: “[TThat is definitely what I would do
if  was them...[.]”

120.  As with Instagram, Facebook decided to acquire WhatsApp rather than compete
with it, in an effort to neutralize a significant competitive threat to its personal social networking
monopoly. In April 2012, Mr. Zuckerberg wrote: “[I]’m the most worried about messaging.
WhatsApp is already ahead of us in messaging in the same way Instagram was ‘ahead’ of us in
photos.” He added: “I’d pay $1b for them if we could get them.”

121.  Facebook first reached out to WhatsApp about a potential acquisition in November

2012; and it reached out again in February 2014, this time with more success. On February 19,

2014, Facebook announced an agreement to buy WhatsApp for $19 billion. This valuation

39



75

Case 1:20-cv-03590-JEB Document 75-1 Filed 08/19/21 Page 40 of 80

reflected the seriousness of the threat that WhatsApp posed to Facebook’s personal social
networking monopoly.

122. Forthe second time in two years, Facebook employees celebrated the neutralization
of an existential competitive threat. In an instant message dated February 19, 2014, a Facebook
manager noted approvingly: “[W]orth it. Their numbers are through the roof, everyone uses them,
especially abroad it [sic]. Prevents probably the only company which could have grown into the
next FB purely on mobile[.] . . . [1]10% of our market cap is worth that[.]” (Emphasis added.)

123. A few days later, a Facebook executive wrote to colleagues summarizing the
WhatsApp acquisition as a “land grab”™—a significant response to a limited period of competitive
vulnerability, rather than something that would have to be repeated regularly in the future:

A big concern expressed is that we are going to spend 5-10% of our market cap

every couple years to shore up our position. I like David’s answer that we think

this is a “point in time” where change is coming to the mobile landscape. I hate the

word “land grab” but I think that is the best convincing argument and we should

own that.

124.  Outside Facebook, industry analysts also understood that the WhatsApp acquisition
had neutralized a significant competitive threat to Facebook. The investment bank SunTrust
Robinson Humphrey laid out the case for the deal with remarkable clarity:

[W]e feel it is easy to see why WhatsApp was more than just a “messaging” threat.

Much like how the acquisition of Instagram by Facebook was both an offensive and

defensive move, we think this acquisition not only expands the company’s [total

addressable market] and capabilities but also covers it’s [sic] flank from the fast
growing “messaging companies”. At first glance, one may assume that WhatsApp

is “merely atexting app”. However WhatsApp is much more, sharing 600m photos,

100m videos, 200m voice messages, and 19B messages per day. Moreover, users

can also share locations, places, and communicate 1-to-1 or 1-to-many. Given this

functionality by WhatsApp and the focus of Facebook on communication and

linking the world’s population, we think WhatsApp and Facebook were likely to

more closely resemble each other over time, potentially creating noteworthy

competition, which can now be avoided.

125.  Another firm, Bernstein Research, noted of the deal:
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The “distance” between the WhatsApp mobile stream and Facebook’s mobile
Newsfeed is not great and one could see the emergence of another 1 billion user
service that could, over time, become a competitor to Facebook for user
engagement. As an independent company or as part of another business such as
Google, Twitter, or eBay, WhatsApp graph could be extended and used to create a
feasible competitor to Facebook.
126. By acquiring WhatsApp, Facebook has suppressed the competitive threat that
WhatsApp poses to Facebook’s personal social networking monopoly. Facebook has kept
WhatsApp cabined to providing mobile messaging services rather than allowing WhatsApp to

become a competing personal social networking provider, and has limited promotion of WhatsApp

in the United States. For example,

127. In sum, Facebook’s acquisition and control of WhatsApp represents the

neutralization of a significant threat to Facebook Blue’s personal social networking monopoly, and
the unlawful maintenance of that monopoly by means other than competition on the merits. This
conduct deprives users of the benefits of competition from an independent WhatsApp (either on
its own or acquired by a third party), which would have the ability and incentive to enter the U.S.
personal social networking market. Moreover, WhatsApp embraced privacy-focused offerings
and design, including the principle “of knowing as little about you as possible” and an ads-free
subscription model. Such distinctively valuable options for many users would provide an
important form of product differentiation for WhatsApp as an independent competitive threat in
personal social networking. Facebook’s ownership and control of WhatsApp also maintains a
protective “moat” that deters and hinders other mobile messaging apps that could credibly threaten

to enter the personal social networking market.
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128.  Facebook cannot substantiate merger-specific efficiencies or other procompetitive
benefits sufficient to justify the WhatsApp acquisition.

129.  Facebook’s monopolization through acquisition is ongoing today. Facebook
continues to hold and operate Instagram and WhatsApp, which neutralizes their direct competitive
threats to Facebook, and continues to keep them positioned to provide a protective “moat” around
its personal social networking monopoly. Specifically, Facebook recognizes that so long as it
maintains Instagram and WhatsApp operating at scale, it will be harder for new firms to enter and
build scale around their respective mechanics. Thus, Facebook benefits from precisely the
dynamic that Mr. Zuckerberg emphasized when explaining the value of the Instagram acquisition:
“new products won’t get much traction since we’ll already have their mechanics deployed at
scale.” Facebook continues to look for other competitive threats and will seek to acquire them
unless enjoined from doing so.

B. Facebook Maintained and Enforced Anticompetitive Conditions for Platform
Access to Deter Competitive Threats to Its Personal Social Networking

Monopoly

130. Even firms as large as Facebook cannot eliminate every competitive threat through
acquisition. Facebook therefore supplemented its acquisition campaign with a series of
anticompetitive actions designed to protect Facebook’s personal social networking monopoly by
hobbling and denying scale to firms that could grow into threats to its monopoly or aid other firms
that could do so.

131. As detailed above, Facebook’s decision to allow open interconnections to its
platform drove significant benefits to app and web developers and users—and to Facebook. With

the wide adoption of Facebook Platform, Facebook became important infrastructure for third-party
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apps and obtained immense power over apps’ developmental trajectories, competitive decision-
making, and investment strategies.

132.  Facebook has used this power to deter and suppress competitive threats to its
personal social networking monopoly. In order to protect its monopoly, Facebook adopted and
required developers to agree to conditional dealing policies that limited third-party apps’ ability to
engage with Facebook rivals or to develop into rivals themselves.

133.  Specifically, Facebook required that developers seeking to use Facebook Platform
and access commercially significant APIs agree to contractual restrictions imposed by Facebook,
including any new or changed restrictions or policies that Facebook imposed over time. These
restrictions limited the types of activities developers could engage in using the platform. As
detailed below, these restrictions changed over time, but at various points included requirements
that developers agree that their apps would not compete with Facebook (including, at relevant
times, by “replicating core functionality” offered by a Facebook product) and would not promote
competitors. Facebook punished apps that violated these conditions, cutting off their use of
commercially significant API functionality, including the Find Friends API, that allowed them to
scale their operations and hindering their ability to develop into stronger competitive threats to
Facebook Blue. In short, Facebook entered into agreements through which Facebook exchanged
valuable access to key APIs for a commitment by those firms to refrain from competing against
Facebook.

134. In cutting off developers from key APIs, Facebook made a deliberate decision to
sacrifice the benefits that cut-off apps would otherwise bring to Facebook, including ad spend.
This sacrifice was made to achieve a longer-term goal for Facebook: extinguishing potential

competitive threats and maintaining monopoly power.
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1. Facebook’s Anticompetitive Platform Policies, Embodied in Agreements with
Developers, Neutralized Competitive Threats from App Developers

135.  In its 2012 Annual Report, Facebook disclosed as a significant risk factor to its
operations the possibility that “Platform partners may use information shared by our users through
the Facebook Platform in order to develop products or features that compete with us. . . . As a
result, our competitors may acquire and engage users at the expense of the growth or engagement
of our user base, which may negatively affect our business and financial results.”

136. To address this risk, from July 2011 until December 2018, Facebook introduced
and maintained a series of anticompetitive policies, embodied in agreements with app developers
governing developers’ access to Facebook Platform.

137. InJune 2011, Google launched a personal social network called Google+. On July
27,2011, Facebook responded by introducing a new policy regarding actions that apps accessing
the Facebook Platform could take: “Apps on Facebook may not integrate, link to, promote,
distribute, or redirect to any app on any other competing social platform.” This policy was
intended to harm the prospects for—and deter the emergence of—competition, including personal
social networking competitors. Indeed, the immediate impetus for the policy was Google’s launch
of the Google+ personal social network. In a July 27, 2011 email, a Facebook manager explained:
“I'Wle debated this one a lot. In the absence of knowing what and how google was going to launch,
it was hard to get very specific, so we tended towards something broad with the option to tighten
up as approach and magnitude of the threat became clear.” Later that same day, another Facebook
employee protested the anticompetitive move to colleagues: “I think its [sic] both anti user and
sends a message to the world (and probably more importantly to our employees) that we’re scared

that we can’t compete on our own merits.”
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138.  InJuly and August of 2011, Facebook terminated API access of several third-party
developers because their apps allowed users to move their Facebook contacts into Google+ or
another social network.

139.  Following that, Facebook imposed several other policies restricting app developers’
use of Facebook Platform, including Facebook APIs. Through these policies, Facebook used its
control over APIs to deter and suppress the threat posed by developers on Facebook Platform.

140.  September 2012: no exporting data to competitor social networks. On September

12, 2012, Facebook introduced a new condition to which developers were required to agree:
“Competing social networks: You [developers] may not use Facebook Platform to export user
data into a competing social network without our permission[.]”

141. January 2013: no promotion / data export to any app that “replicates a core

Facebook product or service.” On January 25, 2013, Facebook further revised its standard

agreement with app developers to add a new condition that prevented developers from “replicating
core functionality” (i.e., competing with Facebook), or assisting others who might do so:

Replicating core functionality: You may not use Facebook Platform to promote,

or to export user data to, a product or service that replicates a core Facebook

product or service without our permission.

142.  With the implementation of these anti-competition policies, developers who had
relied on Facebook’s expressions of openness suddenly found themselves targeted by Facebook.
For example, the developers of personal social networking app Path began development in 2010,
a time when Facebook was extolling the openness of Platform and inviting even competing apps
to interconnect. Similarly, local social network Circle also began development in 2010. For a

time, these developers were able to interconnect with Facebook and access Platform APIs to

distribute their products.
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143.  In 2013, Facebook cut off both apps’ access to key API functionality because, it
said, they were in violation of the new Platform policies. Both developers made changes to their
apps in an attempt to mollify Facebook and thus regain access to crucial APIs, but both were
rebuffed. In the case of Circle, one Facebook executive explained to another that its access would
not be restored even though Circle had taken steps to address Facebook’s concerns, because Circle
was a local social network that might ultimately emerge as a competitive threat: “While I
appreciate that Circle has done all of the items below (or agrees to do them), we ultimately still
have the replicating core functionality piece, which can’t be ‘fixed.’”

144.  Facebook continued to evaluate further Platform restrictions on firms that might
pose competitive threats, fueling internal dissent, as well as repeated explicit recognition of the
importance of API access to the growth and success of apps and businesses in the Facebook
Platform ecosystem. In an email from December 2013, a Facebook software engineer wrote:

[S]o we are literally going to group apps into buckets based on how scared we are

of them and give them different APIs? How do we ever hope to document this?

Put a link at the top of the page that says “Going to be building a messenger app?

Click here to filter out the APIs we won’t let you use!” And what if an app adds a

feature that moves them from 2 to 1? Shit just breaks? And a messaging app can’t

use Facebook login? So the message is, “if you’re going to compete with us at all,

make sure you don’t integrate with us at all.”? I am just dumbfounded.

145. Facebook’s Head of Developer Products responded, noting that Facebook already
targeted competitive threats for access restrictions: “[Y]eah, not great, but this already happens to
some degree - e.g. Path isn’t allowed to use certain things. . . . [T]he absolute numbers in terms of
who is considered a competitor are pretty small.” Another Facebook engineer agreed: “[m]ore
than complicated, it’s sort of unethical[,]” while an engineering manager noted: “[w]ell, I agree it

is bad[.]” The Head of Developer Products replied: “[S]o, I agree this sucks but you are reading

this too absolutely. . . . [R]ealistically only the top 5 messaging apps will ever raise an eyebrow.”
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But the software developer was unsatisfied: “[T]hat feels unethical somehow, but I'm having
difficulty explaining how. It just makes me feel like a bad person.” The Head of Developer
Products replied: “[Tlhis is kind a [sic] political safety net internally that allows Platform to
escape-hatch situations that the rest of the company isn’t heppy about.”

146.  In sum, Facebook has repeatedly conditioned access to commercially significant
API functionality on developers’ agreement to terms that prohibited competition with Facebook.
As a general matter, interconnection with developers provides significant benefits to Facebook,
including increased user engagement and the financial rewards that come from this, but Facebook
provided full interconnection access only to those app developers that would not take acts to
competitively threaten Facebook.

147.  Facebook’s policy conditions and developer agreement terms changed the
incentives of app developers and deterred them from developing competing functionalities or
supporting competing personal social networks.

148.  Moreover, Facebook knew and expected that API access was sufficiently important
to affect the incentives of developers and the developmental trajectories of their apps. Developers
were incentivized to make decisions that would not jeopardize their access to Facebook’s APIs.
An internal Facebook slide deck dated January 2014 dealing with Facebook Platform policies
directly acknowledged the importance of APl access, asking whether Facebook was
“[c]omfortable altering / killing prospects of many sfartups[.]”

149. December 2018: removal of explicit anticompetitive conditioning policy. On

December 4, 2018, Facebook removed its “core functionality” restrictions. The following day, a

Member of the U.K. Parliament published a cache of documents, obtained from litigation between
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Facebook and the app Six4Three, highlighting Facebook’s anticompetitive conduct toward app
developers.

150. Facebook’s suspension of the explicit anticompetitive conditioning policy in
December 2018 was driven by anticipated public scrutiny from the release of the documents and
did not represent a disavowal by Facebook of the underlying anticompetitive conduct. On the day

that Facebook expected the documents to be made public, BRI wrote a note to

Facebook’s board of directors stating

_ Having suspended its anticompetitive platform policies in response to anticipated public

scrutiny, Facebook is likely to reinstitute such policies if such scrutiny passes. Indeed, to this day,
Facebook continues to screen developers and can weaponize API access in ways that cement its
dominance. Moreover, Facebook is likely to reinstitute its conditioning or other, similar
anticompetitive practices when it next faces acute competitive pressures from a period of
technological transition. Such pressures may arise, for example, around increased use of artificial
intelligence or around Facebook’s own view that future dominant technology companies will offer
users a compelling “metaverse,” a virtual environment that hosts users in digital spaces—and that,
as Mr. Zuckerberg recently said, will be “the successor to the mobile Internet.”

151.  There is no government sanction barring Facebook from reinstating its policies, and
Facebook’s own representations have proven meaningless on multiple occasions. In fact, since

2012, Facebook has paid heavy penalties relating to misrepresentations to both users and

regulatory authorities. For example, the FTC in 2011 alleged, in an eight-count complaint, that
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Facebook made deceptive representations to users about how it shares and protects their data. To
resolve the allegations, Facebook agreed to a consent order restricting it from making certain
misrepresentations about user privacy and obligating it to create a new privacy program. The
Decision and Order became final in August 2012. Yet, only a few months after signing the 2012
Consent Order, Facebook reverted to conduct that would lead the FTC to take enforcement action
yet again. Following a subsequent investigation, the FTC brought a second action stating that
Facebook’s continued failure to protect user privacy and its series of misrepresentations violated
the FTC Act and the 2012 Consent Order. To resolve the new charges, Facebook agreed to a
settlement requiring that it pay a record-breaking $5 billion penalty and imposing new injunctive
provisions set forth in modifications to the Decision and Order, including a new corporate structure
with additional privacy compliance channels and oversight layers. In granting the motion to accept
the settlement and enter the stipulated order, J udge Timothy Kelly wrote that Facebook’s alleged
violations of “both the law and the administrative order is stunning.” United States v. Facebook,
Inc., 456 F. Supp. 3d 105, 117 (D.D.C. 2020).

152. Facebook has also previously misrepresented information to other authorities. In
2014, as part of Facebook’s efforts to receive clearance from the European Commission to acquire
WhatsApp, Facebook twice represented that it would be unable to establish reliable automated
matching between Facebook Blue users’ accounts and WhatsApp users’ accounts. Approximately
two years later, however, Facebook updated WhatsApp’s terms of service and privacy policy to
allow it to connect WhatsApp users’ phone numbers with Facebook users’ identities. F ollowing
an investigation into Facebook’s misrepresentations, the European Commission found that the
technical feasibility of matching Facebook Blue and WhatsApp users’ identities already existed at

the time of Facebook’s misrepresentations and that Facebook staff were aware of those
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capabilities. The European Commission found that Facebook’s repeated misrepresentations
deprived the European Commission of relevant information needed for assessing the acquisition.
As a result, the European Commission fined Facebook €110 million.

2. Facebook’s Enforcement of Its Anticompetitive Conditions Deterred Emerging
Threats

153. The terms of Facebook’s agreements with app developers, including as changed
over time by Facebook policy updates, themselves impacted app developers’ incentives and ability
to compete. App developers generally had to agree to accept the terms in order to use Facebook
Platform. Facebook’s inclusion of these restrictive contractual provisions changed developers’
incentives and ability to compete. And Facebook’s decision to aggressively enforce these
provisions further ensured the message to developers was crystal clear: competing with Facebook
would come at a serious cost. Facebook’s actions to enforce these agreements by cutting off access
to commercially valuable API functionality were generally directed against apps in three groups.

154.  First, Facebook targeted promising apps that provided personal social networking.
For example, Facebook took actions against a personal social networking competitor, Path, which
was founded by a former Facebook manager. In or around April 2013, Facebook terminated Path’s
access to key API functionality, and Path’s growth subsequently slowed significantly.

155. The second group of targets were promising apps with some social functionality.
For example, Circle was an app that was attempting to build a local social network that came to
Facebook’s attention in December 2013. In proposing to cut off Circle’s access to key API
functionality, a Facebook manager emphasized Circle’s competitive promise: “Circle positions
itself as the ‘local social network” and has seen some strong growth over the last four days (+800K
downloads yesterday, +600K FB logins yesterday, #1 in the App Store in the UK).” While

Facebook claimed externally that the termination was because Circle had “spammed” users,
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internal correspondence after Circle had resolved the spam problems revealed the real reason was
because Circle posed a threat: “They are duplicating the [social] graph - and doing a rather
excellent job if [sic] it. . . . They are also very directly creating a competing social network on top
of that graph.” Indeed, Facebook continued to withhold access to API functionality after Circle
remedied concerns that Facebook had flagged, with a Facebook manager stating: “While |
appreciate that Circle has done all of the items below (or agrees to do them), we ultimately still
have the replicating core functionality piece, which can’t be ‘fixed’.” Over the following weeks,
Circle’s daily new users dropped from six hundred thousand per day to nearly zero.

156.  Similarly, in January 2013, Facebook’s Director of Platform Partnerships and
Operations wrote to colleagues: “[T]witter launched Vine today which lets you shoot multiple
short video segments to make one single, 6-second video. As part of their NUX [new user
experience], you can find friends via FB. Unless anyone raises objections, we will shut down their
friends API access today. [W]e’ve prepared reactive PR, and [ will Jet Jana know our decision.”
Mr. Zuckerberg replied: “[Y]up, go for it.” By cutting off Vine, Facebook prevented it from
accessing important API functionality that would have helped it grow.

157. The third group of targets were promising apps that offered mobile messaging
services, that were existing competitors of Facebook Messenger, or that threatened to develop into
competitive threats to Facebook Blue. Throughout 2013 and beyond, Facebook blocked mobile
messaging, video, and photo apps from using commercially significant API functionality:

a. In January 2013, Facebook cut off key API access to Voxer, a mobile messaging app

featuring voice communication, shortly after Facebook Messenger launched competing
voice functionality. Following the cutoff, Voxer shifted away from consumer-facing

mobile messaging and pivoted to push-to-talk business communications.

b. InFebruary 2013, messaging app MessageMe soared in popularity and achieved nearly
one million users within a week of release. But shortly after MessageMe reached one
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million users, Facebook shut off key API access. Following the cutoff, MessageMe
stagnated and eventually shut down.

c. In August 2013, Facebook undertook an enforcement strike against a number of
messaging apps simultaneously, with the Head of Developer Enforcement directing
colleagues to restrict them from “accessing any read APIs beyond basic info[,]”
instructing that “we will not be communicating with the [developers] in any way about
these restrictions.”

d. In October 2016, Facebook cut off certain API functionality to Tribe, a video-
messaging app that was generating buzz around that time.

158. Facebook’s enforcement of its anticompetitive conditions on Platform access
hindered the ability of individual businesses to grow and threaten Facebook’s personal social
networking monopoly.

159. Facebook’s enforcement actions also alerted other apps that they would lose access
to commercially significant Facebook APIs if they, too, posed a threat to Facebook’s personal
social networking monopoly. For instance, one third-party app contacted Facebook about its
Platform practices soon after Facebook cut off Vine. A Facebook manager reported internally
about the third-party app: “They’re super concerned about the viability of relying on our platform
moving forward when there’s this lingering chance that we can shut them down under grounds
like this.”

160. Collectively, Facebook’s announcement and enforcement of its anticompetitive
agreements have served to hinder, suppress, and deter the emergence of promising competitive
threats to its U.S. personal social networking monopoly. Accordingly, this exclusioéxary conduct
has contributed to the maintenance of Facebook’s U.S. personal social networking monopoly. By
deterring entry by other apps and excluding developers whose apps threatened to compete with it,

Facebook solidified the network effects that insulate it from competition—effects that persist to

this day.
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161. Facebook’s actions, individually and in the aggregate, have suppressed the ability
and incentive of apps operating on Facebook’s Platform to become competitive threats to
Facebook—and its personal social networking monopoly—in at least two ways. First, the terms
of the Facebook-mandated agreements that app developers were required to enter in order to access
Facebook’s APIs changed developers’ incentives, deterring them from developing features and
functionalities that would present a competitive threat to Facebook, or from working with other
platforms that might compete with Facebook. Second, enforcement of the agreements—i.e., the
actual termination of API access for apps that attracted Facebook’s attention as potential
competitive threats—hindered the ability of individual businesses to threaten Facebook’s personal
social networking monopoly.

162.  There are no procompetitive benefits sufficient to justify the anticompetitive
conditioning of access to Facebook Platform.

V1. FACEBOOK’S MONOPOLY POWER

163.  Facebook holds monopoly power in the provision of personal social networking in
the United States and has held such power continuously since at least 2011. Multiple sources of
evidence demonstrate that Facebook has monopoly power with respect to U.S. personal social
networking services. First, Facebook has maintained a dominant share of the relevant market for
U.S. personal social networking from 2011 until the present day. Second, direct evidence indicates
that Facebook has monopoly power with respect to U.S. personal social networking services.
Further, Facebook’s monopoly power is durable due to significant entry barriers, including direct

network effects and high switching costs.
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A. Personal Social Networking in the United States Is a Relevant Market

164. The provision of personal social networking services in the United States is a
relevant market.

165.  Personal social networking services are a relevant product market. Personal social
networking services consist of online services that enable and are used by people to maintain
personal relationships and share experiences with friends, family, and other personal connections
in a shared social space. Personal social networking services are a unique and distinct type of
online service. Three key elements distinguish personal social networking services from other
forms of online services provided to users.

166.  First, personal social networking services are built on a social graph that maps the
connections between users and their friends, family, and other personal connections. The social
graph forms the foundation upon which users connect and communicate with their personal
connections, and can reflect friendships, online conversations, a desire to see someone’s updates,
visits to places, and other shared connections to personal interests and activities, including groups,
locations, businesses, artists, and hobbies. Personal social networking providers use the social
graph as the backbone for the features they offer users, including the two other key elements of
personal social networking discussed below.

167. Second, personal social networking services include features that many users
regularly employ to interact with personal connections and share their personal experiences in a
shared social space, including in a one-to-many “broadcast” format. In this shared social space,
which may include a news feed or other similar feature, users share content—such as personal
updates, interests, photos, news, and videos—with their personal connections. Personal social

networking providers can use the social graph to inform what content they display to users in the
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shared social space and when. This generally applies to all forms of content on the personal social
networking service, including user-created content like user “news feed” posts, publisher-created
content like news articles, and advertisements.

168.  Third, personal social networking services include features that allow users to find
and connect with other users, to make it easier for each user to build and expand their set of
personal connections. The social graph also supports this feature by informing which connections
are suggested or available to users. Within the United States, the most widely used personal social
networking services are Facebook Blue, Instagram, and Snapchat.

169.  Therelevant geographic market is the United States. The United States is a relevant
geographic market for personal social networking services due to several factors, including
differences in broadband access and social norms that vary at the country level. In addition,
network effects between users are generally stronger between users in the same country, because
for most users the vast majority of relevant friends, family, and other personal connections reside
in the same country as the user. Accordingly, users in the United States predominantly share
content with other users in the United States. For users in the United States, a personal social
networking service that is not popular in the United States, even if it is popular in another country,
is therefore not reasonably interchangeable with a personal social networking service that is
popular in the United States. Facebook and other industry participants recognize these distinctions
and track their performance, and that of rivals, separately by country.

170.  As described below, other types of internet-based services available in the United
States that facilitate the sharing or consumption of content are not adequate substitutes for personal

social networking services.
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171.  Personal social networking is distinct from, and not reasonably interchangeable
with, mobile messaging services. Mobile messaging services do not feature a shared social space
in which users can interact, and do not rely upon a social graph that supports users in making
connections and sharing experiences with friends and family. Indeed, users of mobile messaging
services generally do not and cannot query a mobile messaging service to find contact information
they do not already possess, nor can they query the service to find other users connected to the
people, places, things, and interests that matter to them. Instead, users of mobile messaging
services employ such services primarily to send communications to a small and discrete set of
people generally limited to a set of contacts entered by each user. Mr. Zuckerberg described this
distinction in a 2019 post, calling personal social networking providers like Facebook Blue “the
digital equivalent[] of the town square,” and contrasting the private communication offered by
mobile messaging apps like WhatsApp as “the digital equivalent of the living room.”

172.  Personal social networking is distinct from, and not reasonably interchangeable
with, specialized social networking services that are designed for, and are utilized by users
primarily for, sharing a narrow and highly specialized category of content with a narrow and highly
specialized set of users for a narrow and distinct set of purposes. As a result, users employ these
services primarily to maintain or communicate with a distinct or narrow set of connections—Ilike
engaging in professional networking—and not to connect with friends and family and share the
experiences of their personal daily lives. Examples include networks that focus on professional
(e.g., LinkedIn) or interest-based (e.g., Strava) connections. Other examples of services that users
view as appropriate for limited sharing with a narrow set of connections include some online dating
services and Nextdoor, a service which focuses on facilitating sharing only among users that reside

in close physical proximity to one another.

56



9o

Case 1:20-cv-03590-JEB  Document 75-1 Filed 08/19/21 Page 57 of 80

173. Personal social networking is distinct from, and not reasonably interchangeable
with, online services that focus on the broadcast or discovery of content based on users’ interests
rather than their personal connections. Prominent examples are Twitter, Reddit, and Pinterest.
These services do not focus on connecting friends and family: Twitter focuses on enabling users
to stay informed about topics that interest them, while Reddit facilitates conversations centered
around topics of interest to the participants. As a result, users employ these services primarily to
stay informed about and discuss events relevant to their interests (e.g., Twitter), or engage in
conversations with communities of mostly anonymous people who share a particular interest (e.g.,
Reddit), rather than to connect with friends, family, and other personal connections. Therefore,
such services are not reasonable substitutes for personal social networking services. In a similar
vein, Pinterest allows users to browse content by conducting searches based on their interests, and
allows connections based on such interests, but does not focus on connecting users with friends
and family and therefore is not an adequate substitute for personal social networking services that
do so.

174.  Personal social networking is distinct from, and not reasonably interchangeable
with, online services focused on video or audio consumption such as YouTube, Spotify, Netflix,
and Hulu. Users employ such services primarily for the passive consumption of specific media
content (e.g., videos or music) from and to a wide audience of typically unknown users. These
services are not used primarily to communicate with friends, family, and other personal
connections, and therefore are not adequate substitutes for personal social networking services that
do so.

175. TikTok is a prominent example of a content broadcasting and consumption service

that is not an acceptable substitute for personal social networking services. TikTok users primarily
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view, create, and share video content to an audience that the poster does not personally know,
rather than connect and personally engage with friends and family. The purpose for which users
employ TikTok, and the predominant form of interaction on the platform, is not driven by users’
desire to interact with networks of friends and family.

176.  TFacebook’s own statements and internal documents indicate that it understands the
distinction between personal social networking services and other services. In a July 2009 email

to Apple, Facebook’s head of mobile business explained to an Apple representative that: _

In February 2015, a Facebook executive reported

to Mr. Zuckerberg that her team had analyzed i @

Similarly,

in January 2019, Facebook assessed internally that f&

177.  Facebook’s own statements and internal documents also indicate that it recognizes

that Facebook Blue is providing personal social networking services, and that personal social
networking services are the predominant value and use of Facebook Blue to users. For example,
from the beginning, Mr. Zuckerberg has described Facebook Blue as being “about real connections
to actual friends, so the stories coming in are of interest to the people receiving them, since they
are significant to the person creating them.” More recently, in August 2020, Mr. Zuckerberg

testified that “the use cases that we’ve focused on the most over time are helping you connect . . .
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with your friends and family.” Similarly, Ms. Sandberg testified in September 2020 that the value

Facebook Blue provides to its users is “helping you stay in touch with friends and family and

helping you know what’s going on with them in a very efficient way.” —

Likewise, internal documents

from 2014 and 2015 indicate that Facebook focused on optimizing Facebook Blue to prioritize

178.  Instagram provided personal social networking at the time Facebook acquired it.
Instagram’s founders set out to build a “mobile social network” and succeeded in doing so. Since
its founding, Instagram has provided the defining features of personal social networking, including
maintaining a social graph with personal connections, enabling users to interact with their personal
connections and share their personal experiences via a shared social space, including in a one-to-
many “broadcast” format, and offering features that allow each user to find and connect with other
users in order to build a network of personal connections. Additionally, recent internal documents

indicate that Facebook has optimized Instagram to prioritize §

179.  Providers of personal social networking typically sell advertising spots that they
display to their users. Any positive indirect network effects (i.e., increases in the value of one
service as a function of usage of another) between a personal social networking provider’s services
to users and its sale of advertising to advertisers operate in only one direction: users either are
indifferent to the amount of advertising that the personal social networking provider displays, or

would prefer fewer or no advertisements.
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B. Facebook’s Dominant Share of the U.S. Personal Social Networking Market

180.  Facebook provides personal social networking to users via its Facebook Blue and
Instagram services, and has been the dominant provider of such services since at least 2011.
Further, Facebook Blue and Instagram are the two largest personal social networking services in
the United States.

181.  Facebook Blue has been the dominant and largest personal social networking
service in the United States since at least 2011. Based on analysis of data maintained by
Comscore,' a commercially-available data source, in every month of last year, more than .

people in the United States visited Facebook Blue, with U.S. users spending in total an

average of more thanf ¢

|| minutes per day on the service. Further, in 2020, over- of
U.S. internet users in each month, on average, used Facebook Blue.
182, Since the 2012 acquisition, Facebook has also controlled Instagram. Based on

analysis of Comscore data, last year more than {2 people in the United States used

Instagram each month, with U.S. users spending in total an average of more than -
minutes per day on the service. Further, in 2020, approximately- of U.S. internet users in each
month, on average, used Instagram.

183.  After Facebook, Snapchat is currently the next-largest provider of personal social
networking services in the United States. Launched in 2011, Snapchat worked to differentiate
itself as a mobile messaging service, in particular by offering users the ability to send their contacts
“ephemeral” messages that are available for only a short time before becoming inaccessible.
Snapchat has added features over time, and now, unlike consumption-focused services (e.g.,
TikTok), and typical of personal social networking services, Snapchat provides a shared social

space that users employ to engage in personal sharing with friends and acquaintances.
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184, Snapchat’s user base and engagement level are only a fraction of the size of those
of Facebook Blue and Instagram. Based on analysis of Comscore data, last year an average of

about | people per month used Snapchat in the United States, spending in total an average

of roughly | || minutes per day on the service. By comparison, this represents only about

- of the time that users spent on Facebook Blue. Further, in 2020, only about . of U.S.
internet users in each month, on average, used Snapchat.

185. Other smaller personal social networking services have launched from time to time
i the United States, but have not gotten significant traction and pale in size compared to Facebook.
For example, MeWe launched in 2016 with the tagline “No Ads. No Tracking. No BS.” MeWe
provides personal social networking services without advertising, but charges users for additional
storage and premium features. Based on analysis of Comscore data, last year an average of only
_ people per month visited MeWe in the United States, spending in total an average of

less than & || minutes per day on the service. By comparison, this represents less than

- of the time users spend on Facebook Blue. Further, in 2020, less ‘than- of U.S. internet
users m each month, on average, used MeWe.

186.  Underscoring the significant barriers to entry, multiple firms—including even well-
known, sophisticated, and well-financed firms—have also tried but failed to successfully enter the
U.S. personal social networking market. For instance, in June 2011, Google launched Google+, a
personal social networking offering. The entry of Googlet+ into the U.S. personal social
networking market initially triggered a significant response from Facebook, offering insights into
the potential benefits of a non-monopolized relevant market. For example, Ms. Sandberg
remarked internally within weeks of the launch of Google+: “For the first time, we have real

competition and consumers have real choicd
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we will have to be better to wirf |

Consistent with this, Facebook executives scrambled to react to Google+—mobilizing efforts to

improve user satisfaction with Facebook Blue, including rolling out features to give users greater
confrol over their information.

187. Despite Facebook’s early concern, however, Google+ failed to gain significant
traction after ifs Jaunch. Facebook commented internally in December 2011 about the entry
barriers that appeared to be blocking the growth of Google+: “People who are big fans of G+ are
having a hard time convincing their friends to participate because 1/ there isn’t yet a meaningful
differentiator from Facebook and 2/ switching costs would be high due to friend density on
Facebook.” Facebook’s initial concern with and reactions to Google+ therefore dissipated within
months of its launch. Google+ continued to operate but without meaningful traction, and it was
ultimately shuttered by Google in 2019.

188.  Other providers have, like Google+, also exited the U.S. personal social networking
services market. Now-defunct providers include Friendster, Myspace, Orkut (which was owned
and operated by Google), and Path. Friendster and Myspace achieved popularity in the United
States prior to Facebook’s launch and rise in the mid-2000s, but they were surpassed by Facebook
by early 2009. Orkut and Path launched after Facebook and, like Google+, failed to attract a mass
of users sufficient to sustain the product. Both products were discontinued by the end of 2018.

189. Facebook has today, and has maintained since 2011, a dominant share of the
relevant market for U.S. personal social networking services, as measured using multiple metrics:

time spent, daily active users (“DAUs”), and monthly active users (“MAUs”). Individually and
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collectively, these metrics provide significant evidence of Facebook’s durable monopoly power in
personal social networking services since at least 2011.

190.  Measurements of a personal social networking service’s active user base and how
much users use the service are appropriate measurements of market shares and market power for
personal social networking services. This is true for several reasons.

191.  First, a personal social networking service’s aﬁractiveness to users, and therefore
its competitive significance, is related to its number of users and to how intensively its users engage
with the service. A consumer is more likely to use and engage with, and less likely to switch away
from, a personal social networking service that offers the opportunity to share and engage with a
larger number of the person’s friends and family. Facebook’s ordinary course documents
recognize the unique value of a network that facilitates connections and communications between
friends and family. A personal social networking provider’s ability to offer this opportunity is
indicated by its number of users, and by how intensively its users engage with the service.

192.  Second, in the ordinary course of business, Facebook’s executives and investors,
rival personal social networking providers, and industry observers have assessed the performance
of Facebook Blue, Instagram, and other personal social networking providers using measures of
active user base and how much people use the services—with DAUs, MAUSs, and the amount time
spent by users on the service being common units of measure.

193.  For example, Facebook’s internal presentations assessing the performance of
Facebook Blue and Instagram focus on time spent per month, MAUSs, and DAUs. And Facebook
relies on these same metrics to assess its rivals’ competitive significance. For example, Mr.

Zuckerberg was provided with such metrics when he sought an assessment of - in

. asking two of his top exceutives: |
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In response, Mr. Zuckerberg’s lieutenants

provided him with an analysis of | in different geographic regions, including the United
States, based on metrics including MAUs and share of time spent, as well as its “reach,” or the
percentage of internet users who used the product in a particular month within a particular

geographic area.

194, Other firms that offer or have offered personal social networking services,

includingf have also used MAUs, DAUs, and time spent to gauge their own

growth and the performance of others. For example, F8 B ] recent ordinary course documents

compare the performance of fE8 ] and § 1 by observing the firms’ MAUs, DAUSs, and

time spent, among other metrics. Similarly, &8 21 tracked the performance of both - and

| using MAUSs, DAUS, and time spent. When evaluating a potential acquisition of a

personal social networking provider, B2l also evaluated the target company’s MAUSs, DAUs,
and time spent.

195. Commercial data sources track the usage of online services within the United
States, including metrics like MAUs, DAUs, and time spent. For example, Comscore is a
commercial data provider that directly observes the online behavior of large panels of internet
users, as well as trillions of monthly interactions on tagged websites and apps, and extrapolates
industry statistics based on panel behavior and tagged traffic. Comscore data is relied upon by
industry participants and observers, including Facebook, to assess the usage of online services
within the United States and elsewhere.

196. Facebook itself relies on such commercial data sources to track the performance of

Facebook Blue and Instagram. For example, multiple internal Facebook presentations cite
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Comscore as the source for metrics such as time spent, and Facebook has relied on Comscore
statistics as inputs to prepare important materials for Mr. Zuckerberg.

197.  Analysis of commercial data tracking online services in the United States indicates
that Facebook (through Facebook Blue and Instagram) has had a dominant share of the relevant
market for personal social networking services in the United States since 201 1, whether measured
using time spent, MAUs, or DAUS.

198.  Specifically, Facebook’s share of the time spent by users of apps providing personal
social networking services in the United States has exceeded 80% since 2012 and was at least as
high in 2011. In particular:

a. Analysis of data maintained by Comscore indicates that, from September 2012 through

December 2020, Facebook’s share of time spent by users of a ps providing personal
social networking services in the United States has averaged f8% per month, and did
not drop belowﬁ % in any month. The combined shares of other providers, including

Sn'ipch'/zi Google+, Myspace, Path, MeWe O1ku’c and Fnendster dzd not exceed %
in any month during this period. B . -

b. Data from Comscore maintained in Facebook’s files from 2011 indicates that
Facebook’s share of time spent by users of apps providing personal social netwerking
services was at least as high as it was in the later 2012 to 2020 period described above.

199.  Facebook’s share of DAUs of apps providing personal social networking services
in the United States has exceeded 70% since 2016 and was at least as high in 2011. In particular:

a. Comscore maintains daily visitor data separately for each of smartphones, tablets, and
desktop computers. Analysis of data maintained by Comscore indicates that, from
September 2016 through December 2020, Facebook’s share of DAUs among apps
providing personal social networking services in the United States averaged El% per
month for smartphones, .% per month in tablets, and .% per month for desktop
computers. Facebook’s share of DAUs has not dropped below .% in any month on
any device-type. The combined shares of other providers, mcluding Snapchat,

Google+, Myspace, Path, MeWe, Orkut, and Fnencister dld not exceed

device type during am monfh in this period. |8 coh
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b. Periodic snapshots of data from Comscore maintained in Facebook’s files from 2011
indicate that Facebook’s share of DAUs among apps providing personal social
networking services was at least as high as it was in the later 2016 to 2020 period
described above.

200.  Facebook’s share of MAUs of apps providing personal social networking services
in the United States has exceeded 65% since 2012 and was at least as high in 2011. In particular:

a. Comscore maintains monthly visitor data separately for mobile devices (including
smartphones and tablets) and desktop computers. Analysis of data maintained by
Comscore indicates that, from September 2012 to December 2020, Facebook’s share
of MAUs among apps providing personal social networking services in the United
States averaged f 1% per month on mobile devices and !% per month on desktop.

During this period, Facebook’s share of MAUs did not drop below .% in mobile or

% in desktop in any month. The combined shares of other providers, including

Snapchat, Google+, Myspace, MeWe, Path, Orkut, and Friendster, did not exceed .%

on either device type, mobile or desktop, in any month during this period.

b. Data from Comscore maintained in Facebook’s files from 2011 indicates that
Facebook’s share of MAUs among apps providing personal social networking services
was at least as high as it was in the later 2012 to 2020 period described above.

201.  As indicated above, Facebook recognizes that Facebook Blue and Instagram are
predominantly used as personal social networking services. Contrary to that, even if one were to
assume, arguendo, that half of the time that U.S. users spend on Facebook Blue and Instagram was
not in fact spent using personal social networking services, Facebook would still have maintained
a dominant share of the U.S. personal social networking market. Specifically, analysis of
Comscore time spent data indicates that, even assuming that U.S. users spend only half of their
time on Facebook Blue and Instagram using personal social networking services—while U.S. users
spend all of their time on Snapchat, MeWe, Path, Orkut, Google+, Myspace, and Friendster using
personal social networking services—Facebook’s share of time spent on U.S. personal social

networking services in each month would still have averaged .% since September 2012, and

would have been approximately !% at its lowest.
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202.

Other antitrust authorities have also used time spent, MAUs, DAUs, or

combinations of those metrics to assess the competitive significance of Facebook in their countries

and have concluded that Facebook has market power with respect to offering a user service in their

countries. For example:

a.

203.

In 2020, the United Kingdom’s Competition and Markets Authority (“CMA”)
concluded that “Facebook has significant and enduring market power in social
media” within the United Kingdom. The CMA’s conclusion that Facebook possessed
significant market power was based in part on commercially available data, from
Comscore, indicating time spent by users on Facebook services and Facebook’s reach
among U.K. internet users. The CMA determined that Facebook, including
WhatsApp, accounted for more than 70% of the time that U.K. users aged 13 and
over spent on social media platforms as of February 2020 and “around 75%" of time
spent on social media for a number of years. The CMA also observed that Facebook
apps reached over 85% of U.K. internet users.

In 2019, Germany’s Federal Cartel Office (Bundeskartellamt or “BKartA”)
determined that Facebook’s data terms of service constituted “an abuse of a dominant
position on the market for social networks for private users.” In reaching its
determination that Facebook had a dominant position for social networking services
within Germany, BKartA relied in part on assessments of DAUs and MAUs of
Facebook and other firms within Germany. BKartA concluded that from 2012-2018,
for social networking providers within Germany, Facebook enjoyed a DAU share of
above 90% and a MAU share above 70%.

In 2019, the Australian Competition and Consumer Commission (“ACCC”) published
the results of its Digital Platforms Inquiry which, among other things, assessed
Facebook’s “market power” within Australia based on, among other factors, monthly
users of social media services within Australia and the time that users spend engaging
with the services. Specifically, the ACCC conducted a survey to assess the
percentage of digital platform users who used various platforms on a daily basis, and
commercially available information regarding Facebook’s monthly audience and time
spent. The ACCC concluded, inter alia, “Facebook is insulated from dynamic
competition by barriers to entry and expansion, advantages of scope, and its
acquisition strategies.” Among other factors relevant to barriers to entry, the ACCC
found that “[t]he size of Facebook’s audience is more than three times larger than the
size of Snapchat’s audience (the closest competitor to the Facebook platforms). This
network effect creates a significant barrier to entry and expansion.”

DAUs and MAUs do not reflect a person’s intensity of use of two different personal

social networking services within a day (for DAUs) or within a month (for MAUs). As described
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herein, DAUs and MAUs are nonetheless measures used by Facebook, and other industry
participants and observers, to assess the competitive performance of Facebook and other personal
social networking providers. Further, the greater intensity of use of Facebook is established by its
predominant share of time spent throughout the relevant period. As such, any imprecision in
intensity of use reflected in the DAU and MAU measurements understates Facebook’s competitive
significance. Even so, Facebook has had a dominant share of DAUs and MAUs during the relevant
period.

C. Direct Evidence, Including Historical Events and Market Realities, Confirms that
Facebook Has Market Power

204.  Multiple sources of other evidence indicate and confirm that Facebook wields
significant market power with respect to providing personal social networking services in the
United States.

205. First, historical events indicate that even when Facebook’s conduct has caused
significant user dissatisfaction, Facebook does not lose significant users or engagement to
competitors. This is an indicator of market power. For instance, after news broke in 2018 that

Facebook user data had been secretly harvested by a firm known as Cambridge Analytica,

Facebook’s
ability to withstand significant user dissatisfaction while experiencing a minimal loss of user

engagement on Facebook Blue indicates inelastic demand and market power.
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206.  More generally, Facebook has also engaged in other activities that have degraded
the user experience, including the misusing or mishandling of user data. For example, the FTC
charged Facebook with engaging in a range of serious user privacy and related abuses in 2012 and
2019, and both times Facebook agreed to Consent Orders (and, in 2019, to pay a $5 billion
penalty). Facebook’s ability to harm users by decreasing product quality, without losing
significant user engagement, indicates that Facebook has market power.

207.  Second, despite causing significant customer dissatisfaction, Facebook has enjoyed
enormous profits for an extended period of time, suggesting both that it has monopoly power and
that its personal social networking rivals are not able to overcome entry barriers and challenge its
dominance. Since 2011, Facebook has sustained high profits and market capitalization. In 2020,
for example, Facebook was the world’s sixth largest public company by market capitalization and
generated $29 billion in profits worldwide on approximately $85 billion in revenue—of which $42
billion in revenue was generated in the United States and Canada. In the fourth quarter of 2020,
Facebook reported its average revenue per user (“ARPU”) was $53.56 in the United States and
Canada. Since 2013—its first full year as a public company—Facebook’s profit margin has
significantly exceeded that of the average of the firms that make up the S&P 500, as well as that
of the firms in the S&P 500 information technology sector. Facebook’s durable monopoly power
over users is a significant driver of these profits. And investors appear to believe that Facebook’s
monopoly power will persist: its exceptional market cap indicates an expected stream of high
profits for many years to come.

208. Facebook’s profits massively outstripped equivalent figures from personal social
networking rivals in the United States. Snapchat, for example, has never recorded a profit. In

2020, Snapchat reported an overall net loss of $944.8 million on approximately $2.5 billion of
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revenue. Approximately $1.6 billion of that revenue was generated from users within the United
States. In the fourth quarter of 2020, Snapchat’s reported ARPU was $7.19 in North America.

209. Facebook’s monopoly power is further demonstrated by its ability to crush the
prospects of application developers by enforcing restrictive policies that deny potential
competitive threats access to Facebook’s enormous base of personal social networking users. As
detailed above, Facebook undertook a series of actions to prevent apps that it viewed as
competitive threats from interconnecting with Facebook’s Platform. As a result, apps were unable
to emerge as meaningful competitive constraints on Facebook’s monopoly power, and in several
instances they shut down entirely. Facebook’s ability to exclude firms that could emerge as or aid
competitive threats is direct evidence of its monopoly power.

210.  Facebook’s ability to harm app developers’ prospects derives from—and
illustrates—its dominance of personal social networking services, as a Facebook executive
summarized in a May 2012 email to Facebook COO Sheryl Sandberg: “Because we have this
critical mass of people, that attracts new people to sign up, it attracts developers who want to find
customers for their apps and websites, and it attracts advertisers [who] want to reach the audience.”
According to the executive, as early as 2012 Facebook had “[r]eached a size now where you can
imagine as a developer that most of your current and future users/customers are on Facebook[,]”
noting that “[7] of the top 10 apps in the Apple App store are Facebook enabled[.]”

D. Facebook’s Dominant Position is Protected by Barriers to Entry

211. Facebook’s dominant position in the U.S. personal social networking market is
durable due to significant entry barriers, including direct network effects and high switching costs.
Direct network effects refer to user-to-user effects that make a personal social network more

valuable as more users join the service. Direct network effects are a significant barrier to entry
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into personal social networking. Specifically, because a core purpose of personal social

networking is to connect and engage with personal connections, it is very difficult for a new entrant

to displace an established personal social network in which users’ friends and family already

participate. As a Facebook executive expressed succinctly in May 2012: —

Mr. Zuckerberg himself also recognized the significant advantage Facebook

enjoyed due to these structural barriers, writing in April 2012: —

212.  In addition to facing these network effects, a potential entrant in personal social

networking services would also have to overcome the high switching costs faced by users. Over
time, users of Facebook’s and other personal social networks build more connections and develop
a history of posts and shared experiences, which they cannot easily transfer to another personal
social networking provider. Further, these switching costs can increase over time—a “ratchet
effect”—as each user’s collection of content and connections, and investment of effort in building
each, continually builds with use of the service. Indeed, a Facebook ordinary course document

notes that there are

213. Facebook’s dominance among U.S. personal social networking providers in time

spent, DAUs, and MAUs suggest that it benefits from strong direct network effects, reinforcing its
dominance and making potential rivals’ entry more difficult.
214. Moreover, Facebook’s internal data confirms that it benefits from ratchet effects

that have strengthened over time. As one indication, the number of Facebook friends per monthly
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active Facebook Blue user (measured on the first day of each month) in the United States increased

in October 2019.

from in January 2009 to

215.  Facebook has long recognized that users’ switching costs increase as users invest
more time in, and post more content to, a personal social networking service. For example, in
January 2012, a Facebook executive wrote to Mr. Zuckerberg: “one of the most important ways
we can make switching costs very high for users - if we are where all users’ photos reside . . . will
be very tough for a user to switch if they can’t take those photos and associated data/comments
with them.” Facebook’s increase in photo and video content per user thus provides another
indication that the switching costs that protect Facebook’s monopoly power remain significant.

From 2012 to 2018, Facebook’s average number of images posted per MAU increased by more

than !%, and its average number of videos posted per MAU increased by _

216. Facebook’s anticompetitive conduct has further buttressed barriers to entry.
Facebook’s acquisition of Instagram and WhatsApp created a “moat” that protects Facebook from
entry into personal social networking by another firm via mobile photo-sharing or mobile
messaging. And Facebook’s conditions governing app developers’ access to Facebook Platform
created roadblocks for potential rivals that might have emerged as competitive threats.

VII. HARM TO COMPETITION AND CONSUMERS FROM FACEBOOK’S
CONDUCT

217. Through the conduct described above, Facebook has hindered, suppressed, and
deterred the emergence and growth of rival personal social networking providers and unlawfully

maintained its monopoly in the U.S. personal social networking market through means other than

competition on the merits.
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218.  Through the conduct described above, Facebook has excluded potential
competitors from effective distribution channels and thus denied these firms the scale needed to
emerge as meaningful competitors in the U.S. personal social networking market.

219.  The conduct described above harmed, and continues to harm, competition by
limiting and suppressing competition that Facebook otherwise would have to face in the provision
of personal social networking. As a result, users of personal social networking in the United States
have been deprived of the benefits of competition for personal social networking.

220. Competition benefits users in some or all of the following ways: additional
innovation (such as the development and introduction of new features, functionalities, and business
models to aftract and retain users); quality improvements (such as improved features,
functionalities, integrity measures, and user experiences to attract and retain users); and consumer
choice (such as enabling users to select a personal social networking provider that more closely
suits their preferences, including, but not limited to, preferences regarding the amount anci nature
of advertising, as well as the availability, quality, and variety of data protection privacy options
for users, including, but not limited to, options regarding data gathering and data usage practices).

221. Consumers have been harmed by the lack of sufficient competitive constraints on
Facebook, which has enabled Facebook to exercise its monopoly power. Without meaningful
competition, Facebook has been able to provide lower levels of service quality on privacy and data
protection than it would have to provide in a competitive market.

222. Facebook’s continuing illegal monopoly power, and the harms to consumers that
flow from it, are particularly intractable given that its illegitimate monopoly is buttressed by strong

network effects. Competition can be restored only via an injunction that is tailored to counter these

effects.
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223.  The harm to consumers from Facebook’s conduct is particularly severe because
Facebook increased barriers to entry and excluded competition during a critical period of
technological transition in which nascent competitors could have effectively challenged
Facebook’s monopoly power. Facebook’s anticompetitive conduct stunted innovation and the
development of new products that could have disrupted Facebook’s monopoly during this period
of transition.

224. By monopolizing the U.S. market for personal social networking, Facebook also
harmed, and continues to harm, competition for the sale of advertising in the United States. In
particular, because personal social networking providers typically monetize their platform through
the sale of advertising, Facebook’s suppression of competing personal social networking providers
has also enabled Facebook to avoid close competition in the supply of advertising services. This
has had predictable results on the value that Facebook provides to advertisers: for example,
Facebook has been repeatedly criticized for its non-transparent and sometimes unreliable
advertising reporting metrics, and for the prevalence of fake accounts on its platform, which
undermines advertisers’ ability to assess the effectiveness of their ads.

225. Competing personal social networking providers would have been close
competitors of Facebook Blue in the supply of advertising. This is because they would have been
able to offer the distinctive advertising features described above that distinguish social advertising
from other forms of display advertising, search advertising, and “offline” advertising. Instagram
and WhatsApp, in particular, were each well-situated to develop into meaningful competitive
constraints on Facebook Blue in the sale of advertising. Instagram’s founders planned to develop
advertising offerings to monetize the Instagram personal social network. And an independent

WhatsApp that developed a personal social networking offering would have had incentives to
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monetize it either by offering advertising or pursuing an alternative model. Competing social
networks may also have explored and developed alternative advertising models that consumers
and advertisers could have preferred.

226. Therefore, Facebook’s anticompetitive conduct to maintain its personal social
networking mor.opoly has also neutralized, suppressed, and deterred competition for the sale of
advertising, and deprived advertisers of the benefits of additional competition.

227. The benefits to advertisers of additional competition include some or all of the
following: additional users to advertise to (as a result of increased innovation and improved quality
of personal social networking for users); lower advertising prices (as additional advertising
competition would incentivize reductions in advertising prices); additional innovation (as
additional advertising competition would incentivize the development and introduction of
additional features, functionalities, and business models in order to attract advertisers); quality
improvements (as additional advertising competition would incentivize quality improvement, such
as with respect to transparency, integrity, authentication of ad views, customer service, accuracy
in reporting performance and other metrics, and brand safety measures such as sensitivity to -
neighboring conzent); and choice (as additional advertising competition would enable advertisers
to select a personal social networking provider that more closely suits their preferences, including,
but not limited to, preferences regarding different forms of advertising and/or different options for
users).

228. Facebook cannot justify this substantial harm to competition with claimed

efficiencies, procompetitive benefits, or business justifications that could not be achieved through

other means.
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VIII. COUNT 1 - MONOPOLY MAINTENANCE THROUGH
ANTICOMPETITIVE ACQUISITIONS

229.  The FTC re-alleges and incorporates by reference the allegations in paragraphs 1-
228 above.

230. At least since 2011, Facebook has had monopoly power in the United States with
respect to personal social networking.

231.  Facebook has willfully maintained its monopoly power through its course of
anticompetitive conduct consisting of its anticompetitive acquisitions. Through its conduct,
Facebook has excluded competition and willfully maintained its monopoly in personal social
networking through means other than competing on the merits.

232.  Facebook’s course of conduct is ongoing. Facebook continues to hold and integrate
the competitive threats it acquired, including Instagram and WhatsApp. Facebook’s continued
ownership and operation of Instagram and WhatsApp both neutralizes their direct competitive
threats, and creates and maintains a “moat” that protects Facebook from entry into personal social
networking by another firm via mobile photo-sharing and mobile messaging. Facebook continues
to monitor the industry for competitive threats and likely would seek to acquire any companies
that constitute, or could be repositioned to constitute, threats to its personal social networking
monopoly.

233.  There is no procompetitive justification for Facebook’s exclusionary conduct in
maintaining its personal social networking monopoly.

234. Facebook’s anticompetitive acts constitute unlawful monopolization in violation of
Section 2 of the Sherman Act, 15 U.S.C. § 2, and are thus unfair methods of competition in

violation of Section 5(a) of the FTC Act, 15 U.S.C. § 45(a).
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IX. COUNT 2 - MONOPOLY MAINTENANCE THROUGH AN UNLAWFUL
COURSE OF CONDUCT INCLUDING ANTICOMPETITIVE ACQUISITIONS AND
ANTICOMPETITIVE CONDITIONAL DEALING POLICIES EMBODIED IN
AGREEMENTS GOVERNING DEVELOPERS’ ACCESS TO FACEBOOK PLATFORM

235.  The FTC re-alleges and incorporates by reference the allegations in paragraphs 1-
228 above.

236. At least since 2011, Facebook has had monopoly power in the United States with
respect to personal social networking.

237.  Facebook has willfully maintained its monopoly power through its course of
conduct that includes both anticompetitive acquisitions and its anticompetitive conditional dealing
practices, and maintaining and enforcing anticompetitive agreements relating to Facebook
Platform to deter competitive threats to its personal social networking monopoly. As described
above, Facebook has maintained its personal social networking monopoly through anticompetitive
acquisitions, through conditional dealing policies embodied in agreements extracted in exchange
for third-party apps’ access to Facebook Platform, and by enforcing its anticompetitive agreements
by cutting off apps’ access to critical APIs.

238. Through its course of conduct, Facebook has excluded competition and willfully
maintained its monopoly in personal social networking through means other than competing on
the merits.

239. Facebook’s course of conduct is ongoing. Facebook continues to hold and integrate
the competitive threats it acquired in Instagram and WhatsApp. Facebook recognizes that its
continued ownership and operation of Instagram and WhatsApp both neutralizes their direct
competitive threats, and creates and maintains a “moat” that protects Facebook from entry into
personal social networking by another firm via mobile photo-sharing and mobile messaging.

Facebook continues to monitor the industry for competitive threats, and likely would seek to
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acquire any companies that constitute, or could be repositioned to constitute, threats to its personal
social networking monopoly. Facebook also continues to screen developers and can allow or deny
API access for any reason it chooses. Facebook maintained its restrictive agreements with
developers until December 2018, when public scrutiny of its policies related to app developers
forced it to claim that it would not enforce the policies embodied in the agreements, and Facebook
is likely to reinstitute such policies if such scrutiny stops or other conditions change.

240.  There is no procompetitive justification for Facebook’s exclusionary conduct in
maintaining its personal social networking monopoly.

241. Facebook’s anticompetitive acts constitute unlawful monopolization in violation of
Section 2 of the Sherman Act, 15 U.S.C. § 2, and are thus unfair methods of competition in
violation of Section 5(a) of the FTC Act, 15 U.S.C. § 45(a).

X. POWER TO GRANT RELIEF

242.  Section 13(b) of the FTC Act, 15 U.S.C. § 53(b), empowers this Court to issue a
permanent injunction against violations of the FTC Act and, in the exercise of its equitable

jurisdiction, to order equitable relief to remedy the injury caused by Facebook’s violations.

XI. PRAYER FOR RELIEF

WHEREFORE, the FTC requests that this Court, as authorized by Section 13(b) of the

FTC Act, 15 U.S.C. § 53(b), and pursuant to its own equitable powers, enter final judgment against
Facebook, declaring, ordering, and adjudging:

A. that Facebook’s course of conduct, as alleged herein, violates Section 2 of the

Sherman Act and thus constitutes an unfair method of competition in violation of

Section 5(a) of the FTC Act, 15 U.S.C. § 45(a);
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. divestiture of assets, divestiture or reconstruction of businesses (including, but not
limited to, Instagram and/or WhatsApp), and such other relief sufficient to restore
the competition that would exist absent the conduct alleged in the Complaint,
including, to the extent reasonably necessary, the provision of ongoing support or
services from Facebook to one or more viable and independent business(es);

. any other equitable relief necessary to restore competition and remedy the harm to
competition caused by Facebook’s anticompetitive conduct described above;

. a prior notice and prior approval obligation for future mergers and acquisitions;

. that Facebook is permanently enjoined from reaching anticompetitive agreements
governing, or imposing anticompetitive conditions on, developers’ access to APIs
and data;

. that Facebook is permanently enjoined from engaging in the unlawful conduct
described herein;

. that Facebook is permanently enjoined from engaging in similar or related conduct
in the future;

. a requirement to file periodic compliance reports with the FTC, and to submit to
such reporting and monitoring obligations as may be reasonable and appropriate;
and

any other equitable relief, including, but not limited to, divestiture, restructuring, or
interoperability requirements as the Court finds necessary to redress and prevent

recurrence of Facebook’s violations of law, as alleged herein.
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Chapter-I
TRAI's RESPONSE TO THE CLARIFICATION SOUGHT BY DoT

A.Background

1.

Telecom Regulatory Authority of India (TRAI) issued its recommendations
dated 13%™ March 2020 on “Enhancement of Scope of Infrastructure
Providers Category - I (IP-I) Registration” (hereinafter referred to as the
“recommendations”) to the Government. These recommendations have been
issued by the Authority to implement the strategy “Encourage and facilitate
sharing of active infrastructure by enhancing the scope of Infrastructure
Providers (IP) and promoting and incentivizing deployment of common
sharable, passive as well as active, infrastructure” as envisaged in the
NDCP-2018. Department of Telecom. (DoT) through its letter dated 18th
November 2020 (hereinafter referred to as “the letter”: attached in the
Annexure) has communicated that the aforesaid recommendations of TRAI
have been considered. In the letter some observations of DoT have been
noted. It has sought clarification on these observations.

DoT through the Iletter has observed that, while making the
recommendations, TRAI has relied on Hon'ble TDSAT judgment dated
10.04.2012 in the matter of “Reliance Infratel Ltd. vs Etisalat DB Telecom
Pvt. Ltd.” (Petition No. 75 of 2012 - M.A. No. 112 of 2012). The judgment
has inter alia stated that

Coeenn If, whether by way of grant of registration certificate or otherwise,
any exclusive privilege vested in the Central Government is to be parted
with or outsourced in favour of any other entity, the same would mean a

license........

In the letter, DoT has also stated that in view of the above-mentioned
Hon'ble TDSAT judgment, TRAI has stated that the registration certificate
issued to IP-1is a kind of licence/permission granted under Section 4 of the

1
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Indian Telegraph Act. 1885, though on a different consideration and with
specific scope.

DoT in the letter has further stated that the Hon'ble Delhi High Court in its
judgment dated 11.11.2013 in the matter of “Viom Network Ltd. vs S Tel
Pvt. Ltd.” (ARB.P. 236/2012) had examined this issue in the light of above
observations of TDSAT and held that the infrastructure providers cannot
be treated as licensees under Section 4 of the Indian Telegraph Act,
1885 and Service Providers as defined in the TRAI Act. Some specific paras
of the Hon'ble Delhi High Court judgment dated 11.11.2013 have been
reproduced by DoT in the letter.

Thereafter, it has been mentioned in the letter that Hon'ble TDSAT in its
judgment dated 05.07.2018 in the matter of “V-con Telecom Towers Pvt Ltd.
vs Tata Teleservice Ltd.” (Petition No. 125/2017) accepted the above view
taken by Hon'ble Delhi High Court.

In the letter DoT has further observed that:

“(v). The basic premise of TRAI while making recommendations dated
13.03.2020 on "Enhancement of Scope of Infrastructure Providers
Category-I (IP-I) Registration” may perhaps require a relook as the
subsequent judgments of Hon'ble Delhi HC (11.11.2013) and of Hon'ble
TDSAT (05.07.2018) have overruled the above stand.

(vi). In view of the later judgments of Hon'ble Delhi HC (11.11.2013) and
Hon'ble TDSAT (05.07.2018), it appears that such providers who have IP-
1 registrations issued under guidelines of DoT are not to be considered as

licensees under Section 4 of Indian Telegraph Act.”

7. DoT has sought clarification from TRAI on its observations indicated in para

(i) to (vi) of the letter dated 18t November 2020, which have been

summarized above.
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B.Response of the Authority to the clarification sought as per the

observations of DoT

8. At the outset it is denied that the basic premise of TRAI while making
recommendations dated 13.03.2020 on "Enhancement of Scope of
Infrastructure Providers Category-I (IP-I) Registration" was based on Hon'ble
TDSAT judgment dated 10.04.2012 in the matter of “Reliance Infratel Ltd.
vs Etisalat DB Telecom Pvt. Ltd.” (Petition No. 75 of 2012 - M.A. No. 112 of
2012). In this regard, kindly refer to the para 2.36 to 2.46 of the
recommendations. In fact, the recommendations of the Authority are based
on exhaustive consultation with stakeholders and the legal framework in
place. The judgment of TDSAT dated 10.04.2012 was cited in support of the
Authority’s analysis.

9. The word flicence’, though not defined in the Indian Telegraph Act, 1885
(hereinafter referred to as “the Act”) is granted by the Central Government
(through DoT) under Section 4 (1) of the Act to any person to establish,
maintain or work a telegraph on such conditions and in consideration of

such payments as it thinks fit. Section 4 (1) of the Act reads as under:

“4. Exclusive privilege in respect of telegraphs, and power to
grant licenses. —

(1) Within India, the Central Government shall have exclusive privilege
of establishing, maintaining and working telegraphs:

Provided that the Central Government may grant a license, on such
conditions and in consideration of such payments as it thinks fit, to any
person to establish, maintain or work a telegraph within any part of
India.

............ ” (emphasis provided)

10. Therefore, any person other than the Central Government, requires a

permission, in the nature of a licence or authorization or permission to
3
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either establish, maintain or work a telegraph as defined in section 3 (1AA)

of the Indian Telegraph Act which reads as under:

‘telegraph” means “any appliance, instrument, material or
apparatus used or capable of use for transmission or reception of signs,
signals, writing, images and sounds or intelligence of any nature by
wire, visual or other electro-magnetic emissions, Radio waves or
Hertzian waves, galvanic, electric or magnetic means.”

It is an undisputed fact that the Registration of Infrastructure Providers
Category-I (IP-I) enables IP-I to provide assets and services such as Dark
fibres, Right of Way, Duct space & Tower. It is also a fact that as per the
definition of ‘telegraph’ reproduced above any appliance, instrument,
material or apparatus, which is capable of use for transmission or reception
of signs, signals, writing, images and sounds or intelligence of any nature,

is a ‘telegraph’. Accordingly, the Dark Fiber, establishment and

maintenance of which is permitted under the IP-I registration

presently, is a telegraph.

As per first proviso to section 4 (1) of the Indian Telegraph Act, the Central
Government can part with its exclusive privilege to establish, maintain and
work a ‘telegraph’ to any person by granting the person a licence or
permission to establish, maintain or work a ‘telegraph’. The ingredients of

such grant of licence or permission could be as under:

a) The permission may be to establish, maintain or work a telegraph.

b) Terms and conditions which the Central Government may specify
while granting such licence or permission; and

c) Payment of such consideration by the grantee, as the Central
Government thinks fit.

Therefore, a licence or permission may be granted for carrying out either of
the said activities, i.e., establish, maintain or work a telegraph or any

combination thereof. For example, the Unified Licences granted by DoT

permit the grantee to carry out all the activities. Similarly, IP-1 registration
4
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permits the grantee to only establish a telegraph and maintain such
telegraph but are not permitted to work such a telegraph established and
maintained by them.

Further, the licence or permission so granted may be in consideration of
some payment (licence fee as in case of UL etc.) or may be without payment
of any consideration (as in case of IP-1 registration). Example of such
permission or authorization without any consideration could be the Internet
Service Provider (ISP) licence conditions prescribed in the year 1998 wherein
the Telecom Authority decided to waive the Licence Fee for a period up to
31.10.2003.

It may be noted here that the Act or the Rules made thereunder do not
delineate any particular format in which terms and conditions for grant of
permission/ licence, including mode or quantum of payments, are specified.
The licence/permission so granted may be in the form of a detailed
contractual agreement as in the case of Unified Licence or in the form of a
simple letter/registration certificate, granting thereby permission to a
person to carry out the activity (ies) mentioned under section 4 (1) of the
Act.

It is also pertinent here to refer to the “Flight and Maritime Connectivity
Rules, 2018” dated 14th December 2018 notified by Ministry of
Communications in exercise of the powers conferred by Section 4 read with
Section 7 of the Indian Telegraph Act, 1885 (13 of 1885). These rules are for

grant and regulation of authorisation for “In Flight and Maritime

Connectivity (IFMC)”. The IFMC service provider, shall establish, maintain
and work telegraph to provide wireless voice or data or both type of telegraph
messages on ships within Indian territorial waters and on aircraft within or
above India or Indian territorial waters. The IFMC service provider shall pay

annual fee of one rupee to be paid on annual basis to the DoT through

Bharat Kosh. In the above referred rules, instead of licence or permission,
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the term ‘authorization’ has been used by the Government to part with its
exclusive privilege under Section 4 of the Indian Telegraph Act, 1885.

The Department of Telecommunications has issued “Indian Telegraph Right
of Way Rules, 2016” for setting up of mobile towers and laying of cables in
November 2016, providing a framework for granting approvals and settling
of disputes in a time-bound manner. As per these Rules, the appropriate
authority shall exercise the powers under these Rules on an application for
establishment and maintenance of underground or over-ground telegraph

infrastructure by any licensee on whom the powers of the telegraph

authority have been conferred by notification under Section 19B of the Act,

subject to any conditions and restrictions as may be imposed in such
notification. The section 19B of the Indian Telegraph Act, 1885, makes it
amply clear that the powers of the ‘telegraph authority’ provided under Part
IIT of the Act can be conferred only upon any ‘licensee’ under Section 4 of
the Act. DoT through a clarification dated 22nd May 2018 has clarified that
under clause 2(d) of the said Rules ficensee’ includes Infrastructure
Providers Category-I (IP-I). Therefore, vide this clarification, the

Government itself has recognized Infrastructure Providers Category-I

(IP-I) as a licensee under Section 4 of the Act.
A perusal of the Hon’ble Delhi High Court judgment dated 11.11.2013 in

the case of “Viom Network Ltd vs S Tel Put Ltd” and other connected matters

(ARB.P. 236/2012) shows that the petitioners before the High Court who
were registered as Infrastructure Provider Category-I had prayed for certain
relief under the Arbitration Act. Their petition was opposed by the
respondent on the ground that the remedy of arbitration was not available
to those petitioners for the reason of TDSAT having exclusive jurisdiction
over the disputes raised which were covered under section 14 read with
section 15 of the TRAI Act. On behalf of the respondent, reliance was placed
upon a TDSAT order dated 10.04.2012 in Petition No.75 of 2012 namely
“Reliance Infratel Ltd. vs Etisalat DB Telecom Puvt. Ltd., Mumbai” and other

6
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connected matters. The High Court, after threadbare discussion, chose not
to agree with the said judgment of Hon’ble TDSAT by citing and culling out
several reasons. The High Court chose to overrule the judgment of the
Tribunal on the crucial issue as to whether a registered Infrastructure
Provider Category-I company like the petitioner is a Service Provider or not

under TRAI Act and, therefore, amenable to jurisdiction of TDSAT under

section 14 of the TRAI Act or not. It ultimately held that such a registered
Infrastructure Provider is not a Service Provider within the meaning of TRAI
Act and is therefore, not amenable to jurisdiction of TDSAT under section
14 of the TRAI Act. On that basis, the High Court held the petitioners of
these cases are entitled to arbitration proceeding.

It is important to note here that while the above cited Hon’ble Delhi High
Court judgment dated 11.11.2013 has held that Infrastructure Providers
Category-I cannot be treated as ‘service providers’ under TRAI Act to be

amenable to jurisdiction of TDSAT, it did not hold, as stated by DoT in

the letter, that Infrastructure Providers Category-I cannot be treated

as ‘licensee’ under Section 4 of the Indian Telegraph Act. The question

whether the IP-I registration can be treated as a licence under Section 4 of

the Indian Telegraph Act, has been kept open by Hon’ble Delhi High Court

in the above cited judgment. The Hon’ble Court has observed that need was

not felt to answer this question. The relevant portion of the judgment is
reproduced below:

“15. The first question which thus arises is whether the petitioners

can be said to be ‘licensee’ within the meaning of Section 2(1)(e) of

TRAI Act in as much as if it were to be so, they would axiomatically

Jall under the definition of service provider in Section 2(1)(j) which as

noticed above, includes a licensee. That takes us to the Telegraph

Act. The said Act, by Section 4 thereof vests the privilege of

establishing, maintaining and working telegraphs, exclusively in the

Central Government. However the proviso to Section 4(1) enables the

7
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Central Government to grant a license to any person to establish,
maintain or work a telegraph. The petitioners, notwithstanding being
registered as a Infrastructure Provider Category-I, cannot be said to
be having a license, at least to work a telegraph in as much as the
Registration Certificate of the petitioners itself contains a clause as
under: -

“In no case the company shall work and operate or provide telegraph
service including end to end bandwidth as defined in Indian
Telegraph Act, 1885 either to any service provider or any other

customer”.

16. It next has to be considered whether the petitioners have been
licensed, if not to work a telegraph, to establish or maintain a
telegraph. The proviso to Section 4(1) of the Telegraph Act, as
aforesaid, enables the Central Government to grant a license
not only to work a telegraph but also to establish or maintain
a telegraph. A connected question would also arise whether the
license under Section 4(1) of the Telegraph Act can be either to only
establish or to only maintain or only work a telegraph or only to
establish, maintain and work a telegraph. However, need is not felt
to answer the said question as Section 2(1)(e) of the TRAI Act
though refers to a license under Section 4 of the Telegraph
Act but only to a license °‘for providing specified public
telecommunication services’. Telecommunication Services are
defined in Section 2(1)(k) as ‘service...which is made available to
users by means of any transmission or reception of signs or
signals...”. The reference thus in Section 2(1)(e) of the TRAI Act to a
licensee is to only such a licensee who is providing transmission or
reception services to ‘users’ who are members of ‘public’ i.e. to

consumers of such service and not to an intermediary or to a licensee

8
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providing public telecommunication services. In this view of the

matter, the petitioners even if a licensee under Section 4(1) of the

Telegraph Act for the reason of having a license to establish or

maintain a telegraph are not a licensee within the meaning of Section

2(1)(e) of the TRAI Act.” femphasis provided)

20. One more observation has been made by the Hon’ble Delhi High Court in
para 28 of its judgment dated 11.11.2012 which brings out the difference

between licensee’ and ‘service provider’ which is reproduced below:

“28. Having held so, it is essential to notice the reasoning which
prevailed with the TDSAT in Reliance Infratel Ltd. supra to hold such
infrastructure providers to be service providers within the meaning
of Section 2(1)(j) of the TRAI Act. An analysis of the said judgment
shows the following reasons to have prevailed with the TDSAT. I
have against each of the said reasons also given my own reasons

for not agreeing therewith.

(A). The restrictions contained in the Registration Certificate could
have been imposed only by way of a license envisaged under proviso

to Section 4 of the Telegraph Act and not otherwise.

I have already held above that an infrastructure provider
though may be licensed under Section 4(1) of the Telegraph
Act to establish and maintain a telegraph, if not licensed to
provide telecommunication services to users who are members
of the public, would not be a service provider under the TRAI
Act. The TDSAT has presumed a licensee under the Telegraph Act
and a service provider under the TRAI Act to be one and the same
without noticing that only such licensees who are licensed for
providing public telecommunication services to users have been
made service providers under the TRAI Act. Moreover, restrictions in

9
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the Registration Certificate can also be contractual and merely
because of the petitioners having agreed to such restrictions, they
cannot be made service providers when under the TRAI Act they are

not.....”(emphasis provided)

In view of the above-mentioned extracts of the Hon'ble Delhi High Court
judgment dated 11.11.2013 in the matter of “Viom Network Ltd. vs S Tel Put.
Ltd.”, the contention of the DoT, that the Hon'ble Court in its judgment

had held that the Infrastructure Providers cannot be treated as

licensees under Section 4 of the Indian Telegraph Act, 1885, is

factually incorrect.

The Hon’ble TDSAT in its order dated 05.07.2018 in the case of “V-con
Telecom Towers Pvt Ltd. vs Tata Teleservice Ltd” (TELECOM
PETITION/125/2017) has accepted the view taken by Hon’ble Delhi High

Court that Infrastructure Provider Category-I is not a service provider under
TRAI Act. However, Hon’ble TDSAT has not changed its earlier finding in its
order dated 10.04.2012 in Petition No.75 of 2012 namely “Reliance Infratel
Ltd. vs Etisalat DB Telecom Put. Ltd., Mumbai’, that the power to lay down
passive infrastructure would come within the purview of Section 4 of the

Act. The Hon’ble TDSAT has observed that:

o In our considered view, the objection of the respondent to the
maintainability of the petition the ground that petitioner is not a Service
Provider has to be accepted because of the view taken by the Delhi High
Court. No judgment of the High Court or Supreme Court taking as contrary
view, has been cited before us. Once the High Court noticed the judgment
of this Tribunal and chose to take a different view, we have no option but
to follow the judgment of the High Court and not of this Tribunal. It may be
noticed that the High Court judgment is of course a later judgment and

considered the judgment of this Tribunal....”

10
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23.As per the definition of the ‘“telegraph’ under the Act, any appliance,

24.

25.

26.

instrument, material, or apparatus, which is used or capable of use for

transmission or reception of signs, signals, writing, images and sounds or
intelligence of any nature is a ‘telegraph’. Therefore, whether the appliance,

instrument, material, or apparatus, which is capable of use for

transmission or reception of signs, signals, writing, images and sounds or
intelligence of any nature and whose establishment and / or maintenance is

permitted by the Central Government to any person, is_passive or active,

does not make any difference and such permission is nothing but a license
under Section 4(1) of the Act. Therefore, reading or interpreting any
distinction between active and passive infrastructure based on the
provisions of the Act would not be a correct interpretation of the provisions
of the Act.

The Authority is of the view that the Central Government can part with its
exclusive privilege to establish, maintain, and work a ‘telegraph’ to any
person by granting the person a licence or permission or any other
instrument to establish, maintain or work a ‘telegraph’ only under Section
4 of the Indian Telegraph Act. There is no other provision, other than the
Section 4 of Indian Telegraph Act, 1885, to grant permission to any entity
to own, establish, maintain, or work all such infrastructure items,
equipment and systems which are required for establishing
telecommunication networks.

Since the license or permission to establish and maintain a telegraph can
only be given under Section 4 of the Indian Telegraph Act, 1885, the
restrictions/ conditions specified in the IP-I Registration Certificate cannot
be considered as mere contractual in nature sans Section 4 of the Act.
Further, as stated earlier, contrary to the contention of DoT, it is a fact that
the judgments of Hon'ble Delhi HC (11.11.2013) and Hon'ble TDSAT
(05.07.2018) did not hold that 1P-1 registrations issued by DoT are not to be

considered as licenses under Section 4 of Indian Telegraph Act. It is also a

11
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fact that under the RoW Rules, 2016, the Central Government itself has
recognized Infrastructure Providers Category-I (IP-I) as a licensee under
Section 4 of the Act.

In view of the above, the Authority reiterates its view that the IP-I
registration, within its existing scope of establishing and maintaining
telegraph infrastructure is a separate class of licence under Section 4 of the
Indian Telegraph Act, 1885, which is issued by means of a registration.
Further, the Authority reiterates its recommendations dated 13th March
2020 on “Enhancement of Scope of Infrastructure Providers Category - I (IP-
I) Registration”.

It is pertinent to reiterate here that for achieving the objectives of the
Connect India mission of the NDCP-2018, “Encourage and facilitate sharing
of active infrastructure by enhancing the scope of Infrastructure Providers (IP)
and promoting and incentivizing‘ deployment of common sharable, passive as
well as active, infrastructure” is an important strategy; and an early decision
of the Government on these recommendations of the Authority would enable

implementation of this strategy envisaged in the policy.

12
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Annexure
, chemmem of India
Ministry of Communications
Department of Te!ecommun ications :
Sanchar Bhawan, 20 Ashoka Road, New Delhi - 110 001
(Carrier Service ng)
e ’ L L
Mc;,18-?21201‘2‘»08«%3(?& iy e , ";Dafe‘ci;’fifS;j!d.ZOZOﬁ
To '
The Smcr@iary : s
Telecom Regu!atory Authozr{y of mﬁ*a :
Mahanagar Doorsanchar Bhawan o
Jawahar Lal Nehru Marg, (Oid M mto: Road),
: %\?ew@dhx 1?0002 S
: Sub;ec%: Teiecom Regulamry Authonty of nds (TRAI} men ted

13.03.2020 on ‘Enhanmment of Scope of §P~£ Rggrstratmn:‘c arsf‘ cation ssught
from TRAL ;

, This is with reference to the T’Rﬂ\ ?eccmmmdat ions on ‘E ‘Enhamemem of Scope
of Infrastructure Provi ders Category - P} Pegzsirat;on The TRAI recommendations
have baen cons defed in the dppartmen% and fa z:swu"zg have been observed '

: ~(1) : ?PA! has :"eited on Hon'ble TDSAT ;udgement daind 10. 04, ‘ hﬁ‘ matter
of Reliance Infratel Ltd vs Ei:saiat DB Telecom Pvt. Ltd. Petition No, 75 of 201 ‘
No. 112 of 2012} wh; mkmg the reccmmendatmnx The jL cfgeme 1
alia stated that: - o :
e i, whether: by way C}f grant of re jfsff&fi0l7 c&zf;fzcat@ or of!?efmse any pa of fhe
exclusive privilege vested in the Central G‘ovemn*em‘ isto bo mf*ed w:th or o Hsou
in favour of any other entity, the same would mean a license. ..

444444

(if) In view of the above ment o«ned Hcm bfe TE}S&T ;Lsdgement TRAI has stated fhat the
- registration certificate issued to ii’?i is a kind of lrcense/perm;ssmn granted under

Sect:on 4 of the !ndfan Teiegraph Af;:f 1085 though ona dszererzt can&deratxon and
th speczf ic scope. ' =

(i) However Hora o] le De hg Hzgh Ccurt m its gudgmen*‘ dated 1 of
Viom Network Ltd. vs S Tel Pyt Ltd. (ARB P. 236/2012) had examined. this zssue and
the ahove observations of TDSAT and held that the infrastructur iders cannot be
~ treated as licensees under Seotforz 4 of the Indian Tele graph Act 1885 and Se rvice

Providers as defined in the TRAI Act, The relevam pamcn of the ;ud :
'dreproduceci as under ey - o
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24. Rather, the nomenclature evolved itself furnishes the answer to the question under
adjudication. The petitioners have been classified not as service provider but as
infrastructure provider. The word service, on a conjoint reading of the definitions of
licensee, service provider and telecommunication services in Secfion 2(1) of the TRAI
Act is service o users who are members of the public and not providing setvice to
another who in tum may be providing such-services to users who are members of the
public. Providing a service fo users who are members of public will necessarily entail
establishment of an infrastructure and a service provider may on its own establish the
entire infrastructure required for providing the service or may avail of the infrastructure
of another. However merely because infrastructure of stich another is being used to
provide service (o users who are members of the public would not make such another
also a service provider under the TRAI Act, AT

2B.iiieiieennnns ... Recommendations dated 16t April, 2012 on Guidelines for Unified
Licence/Class Licence and Migration of Existing Licences links recommendations to
bring infrastructure providers in the licensing regime to the need to permit hitherto
before passive infrastructure  providers (o provide  active infrastructure
apparatus/equipment also with a view o enable quicker roll-out of services by the

*licenisees of telecommunication services. However, the same axiomatically means that
till the infrastructure provided is passive and not active, the infrastructure provider -

“cannot be said to be providing any service to the public or to the user and which alone

in the context of TRAI Act is a service provider. i e

27. I therefore hold the petitioners as infrastructure providers to be not service providers
within the meaning of the TRAL Act. Resultantly. TDSAT would not have jurisdiction aver
disputes between the petitioners on the one. hand and respondent on the ¢

hand. Axiomatically, the remedy of arbitration under the Arbitration Act is not o

28 ... the reasoning which prevailed with the TDSAT in Reliance Infratel Lid.
Supra to hold such infrastructure providers fo be service providers within the meanings
- of Section 2(1){j) of the TRAI Act. An analysis of the said judgement shows the following
reasons to have prevailed with the TDSAT. | have against each of the said reasons also
given my own reasons for not agreeing therewith. S ik i

(A) The restrictions contained in the Registration Cettificate could have been imposed
only by way of a license envisaged under proviso to Section 4 of the Telegraph Act and
not otherwise. ~ ; Lo G
| have already held above that an infrastructure provider though may be licensed under
- Section 4(1) of the Telegraph Act to establish and maintain a telegraph, if not licensed
to provide telecommiunication services {0 users who are members of the public, would
not be a service provider under the TRAI Act. The TDSAT has presumed a licensee
under the Telegraph Act and a service provider under the TRAI Act to be one and the

14
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same without noticing that only such licensees who are licensed for providing pubh
telecommunication services to users have been made service providers under the TR/
Act. Moreover, restrictions in the Registration Certificate -can also be contractual an
merely because of the pefitioners having agreed to such restrictions, they cannot b
made service providers when under the TRAI Act they are not.

(B) ...
...

(D) ... Once it is found that the legisiature in the definition of licensee in the TRAI Ac
~has not included all licensees under Section 4(1) of the Telegraph Act but only sucl

licensees who are providing public z‘e!@zfammumm;‘fm*séz”izices;‘z'f?‘c{as’ién n the name o
purposive interpretation of other licensees not providing public telecomm inicatior
- sewvices to users would in my opinion tantamount to violating the exoress lanc o)
the statute.  Surprisingly, the TDSAT did not take the view TRA -
Government while forming such an opinion and also did ‘not notice that TRAI in it
various  Consultation Papers and Recommendations has tself held infrastr

cture
providers fo be not licensees and IP- Registrations to be not licenses under Sectior
4(1) of the Telegraph Act The TDSAT thus could not have thrust infrastructure
providers info the regulatory regime of TRAI without consulting TRAI and without TRA
itself claiming so. The recommendations of TRA! to bring IP-I registrants in the license
regime is incicative of the TRAI, without the same. having control or regulatory powers
over such registrants. : S

35
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(iv) Thereafter, Hon'ble TDSAT in its judgment dated 05.07.2018 in the matter of V-con

Telecom Towers Pyt Ltd vs Tata Teleservice Ltd (Petition No. 125/2017) accepted the
~above view taken by Hon'ble Delhi High Court. The relevant portions of the TDSAT
- judgment are reproduced as under: G

..... - I fact, the High Court chose to overrule the judgment of this Tribunal on the
crucial issue as to whether a registersd Infrastructure Provider Category-l company like
the pefitioner is a Service Provider and, therefore, amenable to jurisdiction of TDSAT
under section 14 of TRAI Act or not. It ultimately held that such a registered
~Infrastructire Provider is not a Service Provider arid s not ametiable 16 jurisdiction of

- TDSAT under section 14 of the TRAI Act. ..........

In our considered view, the objection of the respondent to the maintainability of
the petition on the ground that petitioner is not a Service Provider has to be accepted
because of the view taken by the Delhi High Court. No judgment of the High Court or
Supreme Court taking as contrary view, has been cited before us. Once the High Court
noticed the judgment of this Tribunal and chose to take a different view, we have no
option but to follow the judgment of the High Court and not of this Tribunal. It may be
noticed that the High Court Judgment is of course a later judgment and considered the
judgment of this Tribunal, : e
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e Smce the pem‘foner is noz‘ a Semce Pro wc’@r as par iaw sptlled as hefff
by the High Court, we have no option but to hold that the petitions are not maintainable
before this Tribunal, They are accordingly closed with option to the petitioner fo seekits
remedyin appropr:afe proceedings in accordance with law.” o

(v} The basic premise of TRAI while making recommendaﬁons dated 13.03. 202{} on
“Enhancement of Scope of Infrastructure Providers Category-1. (iP~) Registration” may
perhaps require a relook as the subsequ@nt gudc@:ments of Honble Deihs HO-

(11.11.2013) ¢ and of Hon’ ble TDSAT {05, (}7 ?S’I&é ha\fe c;verruied the above stand '

: _(v;) In view of the later 3x_1dgements of Hm, : A1 .1 2013) and Honb ;?if ;
: TDSAT (05.07. 2018} it appears that such providers who have IP-1 registrations issued
~ under guidelines of DoT are not fo be cons;dered as icensees undmr 8@0’&% 4 o%‘ nd:an
,_TefegyapﬁAct e = : . i P

2 T“zerefore TRA is reqaested fczr the ciarsfxcanon as per the observatxons ndicatedf
- inpara (i) to (Vi) above, . PR , ety o

~This rssu@s wzm the appmvaf of Sec:mtary {T) “

 Tel: 011- 23?,{ 437
E’ima;§ iD ddgas-éot@mc in
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